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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors of Alltronics Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the 

“Group”), I am pleased to present to you the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW
The year 2022 was another challenging year for the Group. Both local and global economies continued to be affected adversely 

by the new coronavirus (“COVID-19”) and its variants. Despite this, the Group managed to achieve a slight growth in total turnover 

for the year. The loss in revenue from the drop in sales of electrostatic disinfectant sprayers had been recovered by the growth in 

revenue from sales of the core irrigation controller products. On the other hand, sales of other electronic products remained stable 

with moderate growth. As a whole, the total turnover for the year has increased by approximately HK$76 million when compared 

to 2021. Raw material prices and shipping costs were less fluctuated than last year while the Group continued its efforts to tighten 

controls over production costs and overheads. The overall gross profit margin had improved by approximately 3.3%. The Group has 

recorded a net profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$112 million this year, as compared to a net profit 

of approximately HK$69 million for the year 2021.

PROSPECTS
The Group will focus on consolidating its resources to expand its electronic products business in the year ahead. With the relaxation 

of travel control and the other COVID-19 related control measures in China since the beginning of 2023, I expect the global economy 

will recover gradually over time. I am confident that the Group will overcome all difficulties and challenges and will continue to look 

for new opportunities to diversify its product range and to provide a better return to all shareholders.

DIVIDEND
The Board recommends a final dividend of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share, together with the interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per 

ordinary share (as adjusted for the effects of the share consolidation completed on 24 October 2022) paid in October 2022, the total 

dividend for the year will be HK4.0 cents per ordinary share. The Board believes that after the payment of the proposed final dividend, 

the financial position of the Group remains to be strong and the Group still has sufficient liquid funds to finance its operations and 

to prepare for future growth. The Board will consider future dividend distribution in due course according to dividend policy.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank the management team and all our staff for their hard work and contribution in the past 

year, especially during the hard times of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Lastly, I wish to extend my sincere gratitude to all our shareholders, customers and business partners for their continuing support.

Lam Yin Kee

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and trading of electronic products, plastic moulds, plastic and other 

components for electronic products; the trading of biodiesel products and the provision of energy efficient gas stoves; and the 

provision of energy saving business solutions. The revenue from sales of electronic products is the major source for income of the 

Group, which comprises sales of finished electronic products, plastic moulds and components, and other components for electronic 

products.

Revenue
Total turnover for the year ended 31 December 2022 had increased slightly by 4.6% to HK$1,732.1 million, as compared to HK$1,656.4 

million for the year 2021. The increase in turnover was mainly due to the increase in sales of electronic products.

The turnover analysis by business segments for the two years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 respectively is as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Revenue from sales of electronic products 1,731,784 1,654,180

Revenue from biodiesel products and energy efficient gas stoves 305 477

Revenue from energy saving business – 1,731  

1,732,089 1,656,388  

During the year, the global economy continued to be affected by the new coronavirus (the “COVID-19”). Total sales revenue from 

electronic products during the year had increased by 4.7% from HK$1,654.2 million to HK$1,731.8 million. The sales of the Group’s 

irrigation controller products had increased by approximately HK$153.1 million to HK$761.4 million, as compared to HK$608.3 million 

in the year 2021. Sales of walkie-talkie products had increased by approximately HK$25.1 million to HK$173.1 million. Total revenue 

from sales of components for electronic products, including transformers, adapters and solenoids, had decreased by approximately 

HK$10.3 million and sales of plastic moulds and plastic components had also decreased by approximately HK$4.3 million.

The operation of the biodiesel products and energy efficient gas stoves business segment in Hong Kong continued to be affected by 

the COVID-19 pandemic and had remained at a low level during the year, with total revenue of approximately HK$0.3 million.

Regarding the energy saving business segment, as the installation work at the retail stores of Suning.com Co., Ltd. (“Suning”) had 

ceased since last year, there was no sales revenue from this business segment in the year 2022.

In terms of geographical market, customers in the United States continued to be the major market for the Group’s products and 

services which accounted for approximately 74.8% of the total revenue for the year (2021: 74.0%). On the other hand, sales to 

customers in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) accounted for approximately 8.9% of the total revenue for the year (2021: 

11.4%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit
Total gross profit for the year had increased by HK$68.4 million mainly due to the increase in overall gross profit margin. The overall 

gross profit margin had increased from 15.7% for the year 2021 to 19.0% for the year 2022. The increase was primarily due to the 

Group’s continued effort to tighten controls over production costs and overheads; an increase in the proportion of sales of products 

which generally have higher average profit margins; and the reversal of warranties of approximately HK$31.3 million.

Expenses and finance costs
Distribution costs had decreased by HK$3.7 million mainly due to the reduction in sales commission on sales of electrostatic 

disinfectant sprayers. Total administrative expenses were comparable to the prior year with a slight increase of HK$2.1 million. The 

total staff costs for the year, including directors’ emoluments, had increased by approximately HK$3.0 million due to increases in 

wages during the year.

Finance costs had increased by HK$2.6 million which was mainly due to the increase in interests on bank loans and overdrafts as a 

result of the increase in interest rates and utilisation of bank borrowings when compared to the prior year.

Other operating expenses, net
During the year, there were a net other operating expenses amounted to approximately HK$15.3 million which was mainly due to 

exchange gain of HK$4.5 million and compensations to suppliers of HK$28.8 million.

Share of losses of associates
Share of losses of associates for the year amounted to HK$6.1 million as the associate at Yichun was still operating at loss due to the 

impact of COVID-19 in the PRC.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company
The profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company was HK$112.1 million, compared to a profit of HK$69.3 million for the 

year 2021. The increase in profit was mainly due to the increase in gross profit during the year.

PRODUCTION FACILITIES
The Group currently has three production facilities in the PRC for the manufacturing of electronic products and components, two 

of which are located in Shenzhen and one in Yichun. During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$6.0 million to acquire 

property, plant and equipment to enhance its production capacity.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
At 31 December 2022, the Group’s total cash and cash equivalents, net of current bank overdrafts, amounted to HK$289.4 million. The 

net funds are sufficient to finance the Group’s working capital and capital expenditure plans.

At 31 December 2022, total borrowings of the Group amounted to HK$232.2 million, comprising bank loans of HK$230.8 million, trust 

receipt loans of HK$0.9 million and bank overdrafts of HK$0.5 million, of which HK$11.0 million were denominated in United States 

dollars, HK$175.2 million were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and HK$46.0 million were denominated in Renminbi respectively.

The Group’s trade receivable turnover, inventory turnover and trade payable turnover for the year were approximately 59 days, 

107 days and 66 days respectively. These turnover periods are consistent with the respective policies of the Group on credit terms 

granted to customers and obtained from suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total current assets were HK$934.8 million compared to HK$1,015.4 million as at 31 December 

2021, and the Group’s total current liabilities were HK$575.6 million compared to HK$771.5 million as at 31 December 2021. The 

current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) as at 31 December 2022 was 1.62 times, compared to 1.32 times as at 31 December 

2021.

During the year, the Company had not issued any new shares and had not repurchased any of its own shares on the Stock Exchange. 

On 20 October 2022, the shareholders of the Company have passed an ordinary resolution for the consolidation of two existing 

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each into one consolidated ordinary share of HK$0.02 each. The share consolidation has become effective 

on 24 October 2022. Details of the share consolidation are set out in the circular dated 30 September 2022 issued by the Company.

At 31 December 2022, the Company had in issue a total of 473,058,180 ordinary shares. A share option scheme (the “2016 Share 

Option Scheme”) has been adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7 

June 2016. There were no share options granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled since the adoption of the 2016 Share Option Scheme. 

As at 31 December 2022, the Company did not have any share options outstanding.

CASH FLOWS
The net balance of cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 31 December 2022 was HK$289.4 million, which had increased by 

HK$156.5 million compared to the balance at 31 December 2021.

The net cash generated from operating activities for the year was HK$227.1 million. The net cash generated from in investing 

activities amounted to HK$1.6 million, which was mainly due to HK$6.0 million being paid for the acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment and the decrease in loan receivables of HK$6.0 million.

On the other hand, there was a net cash outflow of HK$61.0 million from financing activities. During the year, new borrowings of 

HK$138.0 million were obtained, and HK$189.6 million was used to repay borrowings and the principal repayment of lease liabilities. 

During the year, the Company paid a dividend of HK$9.5 million to its shareholders.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment at a total cost of HK$6.0 million, mainly financed by internal 

resources of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT AND MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
During the year, the Group did not have any significant investment nor any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At 31 December 2022, the Group had total bank borrowings of HK$232.2 million, out of which HK$86.6 million were secured by 

the land and buildings and right-of-use assets of HK$154.6 million in aggregate, HK$1.8 million were secured by short-term bank 

deposits of HK$3.8 million and HK$5.6 million were secured by plant and machinery of HK$8.4 million.

DEBT POSITION AND GEARING
As at 31 December 2022, the Group has net debts (being total bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities excluding trade debts 

and net of cash and cash equivalents) of approximately HK$4.6 million (At 31 December 2021: HK$216.7 million). The total equity 

was approximately HK$609.0 million (At 31 December 2021: HK$518.3 million). The gearing percentage as at 31 December 2022 was 

approximately 0.8% (At 31 December 2021: 41.8%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising 

the return to shareholders through the maintaining appropriate debt and equity balance. The Directors review the capital structure 

of the Group on a regular basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each 

class of capital. Based on the recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through various 

alternatives including the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts or the 

redemption of existing debts.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(a) Potential litigation related to a fire incidence in the United States

During the fourth quarter of 2020, the Group was informed by a customer (the “Customer”) that a fire was occurred at a 

school in the United States involving an electrostatic disinfectant sprayer manufactured by the Group. Based on preliminary 

investigations subsequently conducted by the insurance company, the Customer and some experts, and other information 

available, the Group believes that the root cause of the fire is most likely the defective design and manufacturing of the 

lithium-ion battery pack which powers the sprayer. The battery pack was designed and manufactured by a supplier designated 

by the Customer. However, not all the electrostatic disinfectant sprayers sold by the Customer were embedded with the 

subject lithium-ion battery pack. The Customer also informed the Group that there were some other reports of property 

damage but no reports of injury involving the subject lithium-ion battery pack. In February 2021, in view of the potential risk 

that the battery pack can overheat and melt and potentially causing a fire or an explosion, the Customer decided to recall 

voluntarily in the market four models of electrostatic sprayers embedded with the subject lithium-ion battery pack.

Management currently is of the view that the issue is the direct result of the defective design and manufacturing of the 

lithium-ion battery pack and the Customer understands that the Group was not involved with the design and manufacturing 

of the subject battery pack. The supplier of the subject battery pack was chosen and introduced to the Group by the Customer 

and the Group cannot change the supplier of the subject battery pack unless written consent from the Customer is obtained. 

Management believes that should the root cause of the fire be concluded to be due to the failure of the battery pack, the 

battery supplier and the battery pack manufacturer will have the significant responsibilities for the fire. Management also 

believes that the Group does not have any responsibility or significant potential liability on this issue. The Group has engaged a 

law firm and a cause and origin expert in the United States to handle the issue. The Company will closely monitor the situation 

and announcement(s) will be made by the Company to keep its shareholders and potential investors informed of any material 

development as and when appropriate. As at the date of this report, the Group had not received any writ of summons on this 

matter.

(b) Litigation related to alleged non-payment of four purchase orders
Shenzhen Allcomm Electronic Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Allcomm”), being a wholly-owned subsidiary established by the Group in 

the PRC, received a “Writ of Summons” (傳票) attaching a “Civil Complaint” (民事起訴狀) (the “Litigation”) from the Dongguan 

No. 3 People’s Court* (東莞市第三人民法院) (the “Court”) in relation to the claims made by Dongguan Hongjun Packaging 

Products Co., Ltd.* (東莞市宏俊包裝制品有限公司) (the “Plaintiff”), a supplier of Shenzhen Allcomm, against Shenzhen 

Allcomm as the defendant for the alleged non-payment of four purchase orders (the “Purchase Orders”) for purchase of 

components for the Group’s electrostatic disinfectant sprayer products. The Plaintiff seeks for court order for payment of 

the purchase costs under the Purchase Orders and other related costs and costs incurred in connection with the Litigation 

amounting to approximately RMB10.8 million in aggregate. The Plaintiff has also obtained a property preservation order 

(the “Court Order”) from the Court to freeze deposit balances of Shenzhen Allcomm at a bank, amounting to approximately 

RMB10.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Plaintiff is a designated supplier chosen and introduced to the Customer of the Group’s electrostatic disinfectant sprayer 

products and the Purchase Orders were placed with the Plaintiff under the instructions of the Customer. The Customer 

subsequently requested the Group to terminate the Purchase Orders with the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff also failed to deliver the 

ordered goods within the delivery dates as specified in the purchase orders. The first court hearing of the Litigation was held 

on 24 February 2022. Shenzhen Allcomm has engaged a law office in Shenzhen (the “Legal Advisor”) to handle the Litigation 

and the Legal Advisor has attended the first hearing held on 24 February 2022. The second court hearing of the Litigation was 

held on 29 April 2022 and the Legal Advisor has also attended the second hearing held on 29 April 2022.

Shenzhen Allcomm subsequently received a civil judgement dated 1 August 2022 (the “Judgement”) from the Court. In the 

Judgement, the Court has made the following rulings:

1. The contract between the Plaintiff and Shenzhen Allcomm in relation to the Purchase Orders be terminated;

2. Shenzhen Allcomm to pay RMB9,476,532.75 to the Plaintiff in compensation for the non-payment of finished goods and 

the loss incurred from production of partially finished goods and purchase of raw materials;

3. Shenzhen Allcomm to pay compensation for late payment to the Plaintiff, which is to be calculated at 5.775% per 

annum on RMB9,476,532.75 covering the period from 6 August 2021 to the date of full payment;

4. Shenzhen Allcomm to take back all the inventories (including finished goods, partially finished goods and raw materials) 

under the Purchase Orders, provided that if the actual type or quantity of any finished goods, partially finished goods 

and raw materials received by Shenzhen Allcomm deviates from the list of inventories as submitted by the Plaintiff to 

the Court, Shenzhen Allcomm is entitled to deduct the costs of such inventories from the compensation amount of 

RMB9,476,532.75 as mentioned above;

5. Shenzhen Allcomm to pay storage fee of finished goods, partially finished goods and raw materials to the Plaintiff, which 

is to be calculated at RMB22,240 per month and for the period from 1 November 2020 up to the date the inventories are 

taken back by Shenzhen Allcomm; and

6. All other claims made by the Plaintiff are dismissed.

The Court also ordered that Shenzhen Allcomm shall pay for application fee of RMB75,768 and property preservation fee of 

RMB4,479.

Shenzhen Allcomm has filed a civil appeal (the “Appeal”) against the rulings in the Judgement through Dongguan 

Intermediate People’s Court* (東莞市中級人民法院) (the “Intermediate Court”). In the Appeal, Shenzhen Allcomm has 

requested the Intermediate Court to revoke the rulings in the Judgement and to dismiss all the claims made by the Plaintiff. 

Shenzhen Allcomm has also made an application to request the Intermediate Court to appoint a qualified appraiser to 

conduct an appraisal on all the finished goods, partially finished goods and raw materials related to the case.

Shenzhen Allcomm subsequently received a civil judgement dated 16 March 2023 (the “Appeal Judgement”) from the 

Intermediate Court in relation to the Appeal. In the Appeal Judgement, the Intermediate Court has revoked the rulings in the 

Judgement and the case was remanded to the Court for a retrial (the “Retrial”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at the date of this report, the hearing date of the Retrial has not been scheduled. Shenzhen Allcomm will vigorously defend 

the Plaintiff’s claims in the Retrial. The Group believes that the Retrial will not have any material adverse effect on the Group 

and the business and operations of the Group will remain normal. The Company will keep the shareholders and potential 

investors of the Company informed of any further material development by way of announcement as and when appropriate.

Save for the Litigation as disclosed above, the Group was not a defendant in any other legal proceedings against the Group during 

the year ended 31 December 2022 and as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other material contingent liabilities as at both 31 December 2022 and 31 

December 2021.

UPDATE ON SETTLEMENT OF OVERDUE CONSIDERATION AND DEBT
On 15 April 2019, the Group has completed a very substantial disposal transaction (the “VSD Transaction”) in relation to the disposal 

of the Group’s investment properties business segment. On 15 July 2020, the Group has engaged a solicitor firm at Beijing to 

commence arbitration proceedings against the purchaser (the “Purchaser”) and the guarantor (the “Guarantor”) for collection of the 

overdue consideration of RMB100 million (the “Consideration”) and accrued interests in relation to the VSD Transaction. On 12 March 

2021, the arbitration hearing was conducted at the Beijing Arbitration Commission (the “BAC”) and the arbitral award has been issued 

by the BAC on 5 August 2021. Under the arbitral award, it was decided by the BAC that, amongst other things, (i) the Purchaser and 

the Guarantor pay the overdue Consideration and accrued interests thereon to the Group, (ii) the Purchaser and the Guarantor bear 

the arbitration fees and the legal and other costs related to the arbitration, and (iii) the Purchaser and the Guarantor should settle all 

the amounts due to the Group within fifteen days from the date the arbitral award is delivered to the Purchaser and the Guarantor. 

As at the date of this report, the Group has not received the overdue Consideration and accrued interests thereon from the Purchaser 

and the Guarantor.

Alltronics Energy Saving (Shenzhen) Limited (“Alltronics Energy Saving”, being an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group) 

has filed an official civil complaint* (民事起訴狀) (the “Complaint”) at the Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court* (深圳市中級人民

法院, the “Shenzhen court”) on 2 January 2020. Under the Complaint, Alltronics Energy Saving requested for immediate settlement 

of the debt of approximately RMB212 million (the “Debt”) and accrued interests thereon from the borrower (the “Borrower”) and the 

Guarantor in relation to the VSD Transaction.

On 28 April 2021, Alltronics Energy Saving has entered into a settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with the Borrower 

and the Guarantor. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the Borrower and the Guarantor have agreed to settle the Debt in 

accordance with the following schedule:

(a) RMB20,000,000 on or before 31 May 2021;

(b) RMB80,000,000 on or before 30 June 2021; and

(c) the remaining balance on or before 31 December 2021.

Alltronics Energy Saving has submitted the Settlement Agreement to the Shenzhen Court for judicial recognition and confirmation. 

On 28 May 2021, the Shenzhen Court has delivered its judgement on the Settlement Agreement and it has become effective and 

legally binding on all parties. The Borrower and the Guarantor have not settled the Debt in accordance with the repayment terms 

in the Settlement Agreement. On 15 July 2021, Alltronics Energy Saving has applied to the Shenzhen Court for execution of the 

Settlement Agreement and the Shenzhen Court has accepted the application for execution of the Settlement Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s legal advisers in Beijing and Shenzhen advised that Henan Luohe Intermediate People’s Court * (河南省漯河市中級

人民法院) (the “Henan Court”) has accepted an application for bankruptcy liquidation against the Guarantor and a bankruptcy 

administrator of the Guarantor has been appointed by the Henan Court on 5 July 2021. The Group’s legal advisers in Beijing and 

Shenzhen have already filed the relevant documents for the declaration of creditor’s right to the bankruptcy administrator of the 

Guarantor to declare and to register all the amounts due from the Guarantor to the Group so as to protect the interests of the Group. 

As at the date of this report, the bankruptcy administrator of the Guarantor is still analysing and assessing the assets and liabilities of 

the Guarantor and the bankruptcy liquidation against the Guarantor is still in progress.

The Group is in discussion with its legal advisers in Beijing and Shenzhen to consider the further actions available against the 

Purchaser, the Borrower and the Guarantor to recover the overdue Consideration and the Debt and accrued interests thereon.

As at the date of this report, the Group has not received the overdue Consideration and the Debt from the Guarantor and the 

Borrower. Full impairment losses on the Consideration and the Debt have been made in the Group’s audited consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. The Company will closely monitor the situation and further announcement(s) 

will be made by the Company to keep its shareholders and potential investors informed of any material development as and when 

appropriate.

EMPLOYEES
At 31 December 2022, the Group had 2,603 employees, of which 68 were employed in Hong Kong and 2,535 were employed in the 

PRC. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive levels. The Group operates a defined contribution mandatory provident 

fund retirement benefits scheme for all its employees in Hong Kong, and provides its PRC employees with welfare schemes as 

required by the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC. The Group also offers discretionary bonuses to its employees by reference 

to the performance of individual employees and the overall performance of the Group.

No share options had been granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled since the adoption of the 2016 Share Option Scheme. As at 31 

December 2022, there were no share options remained outstanding.

The Group did not experience any significant labour disputes or substantial changes in the number of its employees that led to any 

disruption of its normal business operations. The Board believes that the Group’s management and employees are the most valuable 

assets of the Group and they have contributed to the success of the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
Most of the Group’s sales are denominated in United States dollars and Renminbi, and most of the purchases of raw materials are 

denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. Furthermore, most of the Group’s monetary assets are denominated in Hong Kong 

dollars, United States dollars and Renminbi.

The Group’s principal production facilities are located in the PRC whilst its sales proceeds are primarily settled in United States 

dollars, Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi. As such, management is aware of the potential foreign currency risk that may arise from the 

fluctuation of exchange rates between United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Management will consider various 

actions to minimise the risk, including the entering into forward foreign exchange contracts with major and reputable financial 

institutions to hedge its foreign exchange risk exposure. These were for hedging against foreign exchange risk exposure relating to 

production costs and certain outstanding payables denominated in Renminbi. As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any 

outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts. Management will continue to evaluate the Group’s foreign currency exposure and 

take further actions as appropriate to minimise the Group’s exposure whenever necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK
Electronic products segment
The overall performance of the Group’s electronic products segment during the year 2022 has remained stable when compared to 

the prior year. The total revenue has increased slightly by HK$77.6 million to HK$1,731.8 million, compared to HK$1,654.2 million 

for the year 2021. Although most of the developed countries have already released all the COVID-19 related controls and measures, 

the impacts of the COVID-19 may continue to pose threats to the global economy. Management will keep alert and has to remain 

cautious on the performance in the coming year. Besides the uncertainties on the impacts of the COVID-19, the ongoing trade 

disputes between the United States and the PRC may further escalate geopolitical tensions and may lead to a negative impact on 

the global economy. The effects of the various sanctions imposed or to be imposed on Hong Kong by the United States and other 

countries are still challenging. On the other hand, the risk of fluctuation in exchange rate of Renminbi against United States dollars 

and Hong Kong dollars, and the risk of high inflation and rise in interest rate will also affect the performance of the Group’s electronic 

products segment. The management of the Group is of the view that the difficult business environment may last for some time. The 

Group will continue its efforts to manage these factors and to tighten controls over production costs and overheads, and to improve 

production efficiency to maximise the gross profit margin.

In terms of products, irrigation controllers have remained as the Group’s core electronic products during the year 2022 and 

management expects that these products will continue to be the core product of the Group’s electronic products segment in the 

near future. Management also expects that the performance of the Group’s irrigation controller products will remain stable with 

steady growth. On the other hand, management is striving to launch new products to provide new momentum for growth in 

revenue.

In terms of geographical market, the Group foresees that the United States will continue to be the major market for its products in 

the year ahead.

The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the business operations of the Group’s associated companies. Management expects that the 

share of profits or loss from associated companies in the coming year will not be significant when compared to the results of the core 

electronic business of the Group.

The Group will continue to explore opportunities for new electronic products with other potential customers to broaden its revenue 

base and to maintain its growth momentum.

Biodiesel products and energy saving gas stoves segment
The Group foresees that the revenue from biodiesel products and energy efficient gas stoves will remain at low level during the year 

2023.

Energy saving business
The Group foresees that the revenue from the energy saving business will remain at a low level during the year 2023 as the Group 

has already ceased the installation work at Suning stores.

Going forward, we see both challenges and opportunities. The Group will focus on its core electronic products segment and will 

continue to explore opportunities for new products and projects with existing and potential customers in Hong Kong, in the PRC and 

overseas to provide a better return to all shareholders.
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PROPOSED DIVIDEND
The Board proposes the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share. Together with the interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per 

share (as adjusted for the effects of the share consolidation completed on 24 October 2022) paid in October 2022, the total dividends 

paid or payable for the year 2022 will be HK4.0 cents per share. All dividends are paid in cash from funds generated from the Group’s 

operations. The Group will have sufficient funds for its future expansion after the payment of dividends.

The proposed final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share will be payable to shareholders whose names appear on the register of 

members of the Company on 12 June 2023. Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting, the final dividend will be payable on or about 29 June 2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The register of members of the Company will be closed from 30 May 2023 to 2 June 2023 (both dates inclusive), during which period 

no share transfers will be effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all share transfers must be lodged with 

the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong 

Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 29 May 2023.

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from 8 June 2023 to 12 June 2023 (both dates inclusive), during which 

period no share transfers will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at the 

AGM), all share transfers must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far 

East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 7 June 2023.

* For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lam Yin Kee (林賢奇), aged 76, is an executive Director and the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Lam was also the Chief Executive 

of the Company until 12 June 2020. Being the founder of the Group, Mr. Lam has over 50 years of marketing experience in the 

electronic industry and he is responsible for the Groups’ overall strategic planning and business development. He is also responsible 

for overseeing the overall operation in the sales and marketing and administration management of the Group. Prior to establishing 

the Group in 1997, Mr. Lam was the vice chairman of a listed group in Hong Kong engaging in the manufacture and sale of electronic 

products for over 20 years. Mr. Lam is the spouse of Ms. Yeung Po Wah and the father of Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric and Ms. Lam Oi Yan, 

Ivy.

Ms. Yeung Po Wah (楊寶華), aged 73, is an executive Director of the Company. Ms. Yeung is a co-founder of the Group and is 

responsible for the overall administrative functions and strategic planning of the Group. From 1967 to 1984, Ms. Yeung worked at the 

Bank of Tokyo with the last position being assistant manager of the remittance department. Ms. Yeung is the spouse of Mr. Lam Yin 

Kee and the mother of Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric and Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy.

Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric (林子泰), aged 43, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 30 March 2012. On 12 June 

2020, Mr. Lam was appointed as the Chief Executive of the Company. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor Degree in Commerce (Marketing) and 

a Master Degree in Business Systems from Monash University, Australia. Mr. Lam joined the Group as an assistant Marketing Manager 

in June 2004 and is currently the General Manager of a major subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Lam has extensive experience in production 

and customer management and is mainly responsible for the overall supervision of the Group’s manufacturing operations in China 

and for business development in China market. Mr. Lam is the son of Mr. Lam Yin Kee and Ms. Yeung Po Wah. Mr. Lam is also the 

brother of Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy.

Mr. So Kin Hung (蘇健鴻), aged 66, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2008. Mr. So graduated 

from the University of East London (previously known as “North East London Polytechnic”) in the United Kingdom in 1982, with a 

degree of Bachelor of Science (Electrical and Electronic Engineering). Mr. So joined the Group since 1997 and is also the general 

manager of two of the Group’s subsidiaries, namely Alltronics Tech. Mftg. Limited and Shenzhen Allcomm Electronic Co. Ltd. He has 

over 40 years of experience in the electronic industry and is responsible for the marketing and engineering operations of the Group. 

Prior to joining the Group in 1997, Mr. So worked for a Hong Kong listed company as the assistant general manager.

Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy (林藹欣), aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 12 June 2020. Ms. Lam joined 

the Group as an assistant Marketing Manager in March 2003 and has extensive experience in marketing, administrative management 

and investor relations. Ms. Lam is mainly responsible for the administrative management and investor relations of the Group. Ms. 

Lam holds a Bachelor Degree in Business (Marketing) from Central Queensland University, Australia. Ms. Lam has been a member 

of the YIC Youth of the Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council since 2003 and is also a director of the Lifeline Express Hong Kong 

Foundation since 2013. Ms. Lam is the daughter of Mr. Lam Yin Kee and Ms. Yeung Po Wah. Ms. Lam is also the sister of Mr. Lam Chee 

Tai, Eric.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Pang Kwong Wah (彭廣華), aged 77, is an independent non-executive Director appointed by the Group in June 2013. Mr. Pang 

graduated from the University of Southern California in the United States of America with a Master of Business Administration and 

has extensive experience in finance and administration, business and general management. Mr. Pang was a principal of the corporate 

services division of an international audit firm from 1985 to 1988 and had held senior positions including the chief operating officer 

and chief executive officer of a listed company in Hong Kong from 1988 to 2002. Mr. Pang was also a non-executive director of a 

listed company in Hong Kong from 2004 to 2005.

Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert (丘銘劍), aged 84, is an independent non-executive Director appointed by the Group in September 

2009. Mr. Yau graduated from Wah Yan College and has extensive experience in the textile and clothing industry and worldwide 

trade affairs. He served as a trade officer in the Hong Kong Government from 1964 to 1971. In 1970, he was seconded to the General 

Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (“GATT”) Secretariat (now known as “World Trade Organisation”) in Geneva, Switzerland and was 

awarded GATT Fellowship. Mr. Yau had held senior positions including chief executive and managing director of various major 

international and local apparel companies since 1971. In addition, from 1998 to 2004, he was appointed as the vice chairman of the 

Hong Kong Exporters’ Association, member of the Executive Committee of The Hong Kong Shippers’ Council and member of the 

Garment Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council.

Mr. Yau is currently an independent non-executive director of Parkson Retail Group Limited and Tungtex (Holdings) Company 

Limited since 1 January 2007 and 18 September 2006 respectively. The shares of these two companies are listed on the Main Board 

of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony (嚴元浩), aged 75, is an independent non-executive Director appointed by the Group in August 2016. Mr. 

Yen is a solicitor of Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. He is also a barrister and solicitor of Australia. From August 1994 to March 

2007, he was the Law Draftsman of the Department of Justice of Hong Kong. He was also a member of the Hong Kong Government’s 

Law Reform Commission. Mr. Yen was conferred the Silver Bauhinia Star Medal by the Hong Kong Government in 2000. Currently, 

he is an adjunct professor at the Hong Kong Shue Yan University and the Beijing Normal University. Mr. Yen is an Honorary Court 

Member of the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and an Honorary Fellow of the Faculty of Education, University of 

Hong Kong. He is the director of two secondary schools, the chairman of the Neighbourhood Advice Action Council and a member 

of Heep Hong Society’s Executive Council. He is an honorary adviser to the Pok Oi Hospital and the Hong Kong Academy of Nursing. 

From April 2009 to April 2015, Mr. Yen was the vice chairman of the Hong Kong Government’s Social Welfare Department Lump Sum 

Grant Independent Complaints Handling Committee. From January 2013 to January 2019, Ms. Yen was a member of the Hong Kong 

Government’s Panel of Review Board on School Complaints.

Mr. Yen is an independent non-executive director of Jinchuan Group International Resources Company Limited (stock code: 2362), 

whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and also an independent director of China Minsheng Jiaye 

Investment Co., Limited. Mr. Yen also served as an independent non-executive director of Beijing Energy International Holding Co., 

Ltd. (stock code: 686) from 6 April 2011 to 18 June 2021, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Yen 

also served as an independent non-executive director of Link Holdings Limited (stock code: 8237) from 20 June 2014 to 16 October 

2014 and WWPKG Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 8069) from 16 December 2016 to 2 August 2022, whose shares are listed 

on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lin Kam Sui (連金水), aged 73, is an independent non-executive Director appointed by the Group in June 2017. Mr. Lin was 

graduated from Hong Kong Technical College (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1970 and was awarded the 

Higher Diploma in Mechanical Engineering. He is also a holder of the Full Technological Certificate in Electrical Engineering Practice 

of the City and Guilds of London Institute, the Diploma in Management for Executive Development of the Chinese University of Hong 

Kong, and has completed the General Management Programme of Ashridge Management College in the United Kingdom and the 

Graduate Certificate in Management by Monash University in Australia.
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Mr. Lin has over 50 years of experience in the field of electrical and mechanical engineering. He joined Jardine Engineering 

Corporation, Limited upon graduation from Hong Kong Technical College in 1970 and held various senior positions until he retired 

from the company in 2015, after 45 years of services. Mr. Lin currently is the Business Development Director of Midea Electric (HK) 

Limited.

Mr. Lin is a Chartered Engineer of the Engineering Council UK, a Fellow Member of The Chartered Institution of Building Services 

Engineers (UK), a Fellow Member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, and a Life Member of American Society of Heating, 

Refrigerating and Air Conditioning Engineers. Mr. Lin is also the Honorary Life President of The Hong Kong Air Conditioning and 

Refrigeration Association Limited.

Mr. Lin has served the Hong Kong Government in various capacities, including as a member of the Electrical and Mechanical Services 

Industry Training Advisory Committee, a member of the Contractors’ Registration Committee, a member of the Appeal Board 

Panel (under the Construction Workers Registration Ordinance), a member of the Registered Contractors’ Disciplinary Board Panel, 

a Sector/Subject Specialist of the Hong Kong Council for Academic and Vocational Qualification and a member of the Employees 

Retraining Board.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Ieong Kin San, Sunny (楊建燊), aged 72, is a co-founder of a major subsidiary, Southchina Engineering and Manufacturing 

Limited (“Southchina”), and currently is the marketing director and general manager of Southchina. He is responsible for overseeing 

the sales and marketing activities of Southchina and has over 40 years of management experience in manufacturing field.

Mr. Lam On Bong (林安邦), aged 71, is a co-founder of Southchina and currently is the operation director of Southchina. He is 

responsible for the overall management of Southchina’s production facilities in the PRC and has over 40 years of management 

experience in manufacturing field.

Mr. Leung Hon Kwong, Jackson (梁漢光), aged 70, is a co-founder of Southchina and is currently the financial and purchasing 

director of Southchina. He is responsible for overseeing the purchasing and financial functions of Southchina and has over 40 years 

of management experience in manufacturing field.

Mr. Leung Fuk Cheung (梁福祥), aged 59, is the company secretary and qualified accountant of the Group. Mr. Leung is responsible 

for the Group’s overall financial administration. He has extensive experience in finance, accounting, auditing and company secretarial 

practice and is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of the 

Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Leung has worked for international accounting firms for over 12 years. Prior to joining the Group 

in August 2002, Mr. Leung worked as the financial controller for a jewelry manufacturing company.
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1. ABOUT THIS REPORT
1.1 Overview of the Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the“Report”) discloses Environmental, Social and Governance 

performance of Alltronics Holdings Limited (the “Company”, its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”), with stock code 833) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”, or “We”) for the 

period of 1 January, 2022 to 31 December, 2022 (the “Reporting Period”). The Report is prepared in accordance with all 

mandatory and the “comply or explain” provisions stipulated in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting 

Guide (the “ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong 

Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

1.2 SCOPE OF REPORTING
The environmental, social and governance policies and management measures contained in the Report are applicable 

to the Group and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The information set out in the Report covers the operation of the 

Group’s main factory in Shenzhen, which mainly produces electronic products (the “Shenzhen factory”). The Shenzhen 

factory is the Group’s main production site and the core source of revenue for the Group. Unless otherwise stated, all key 

performance indicators in the Report includes the data of the Shenzhen factory only.

1.3 REPORTING PRINCIPLES
The Report adhered to the ESG Guide and applied the following principles:

Materiality: In order to identify and assess material matters that have an impact on business-related parties, we also 

conduct substantive assessment surveys through various communication activities with business-related parties 

to determine the factors that have a significant impact on the sustainable development of the Group. For more 

information, please refer to the section headed “Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: In order to ensure the accuracy of key performance indicators, the Group quantifies and estimates data in 

accordance with national or international standards to facilitate comparison of ESG performance.

Balance: The information and cases in this Report are mainly from the 2022 annual company statistical report, related 

documents and internal communication documents. The Group undertakes that there are no false statements or 

misleading representations in the Report, and make fair disclosures on the progress and continuing challenges of the 

most critical aspects of its performance.

Consistency: We follow the ESG Guide issued by the HKEX for reporting. If there are any changes in the future that may 

affect the comparison with previous reports, the Group will add notes to the corresponding content of the report.
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2. BOARD STATEMENT ON ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
The Board of the Group takes full responsibility for sustainable development and leads the team to fulfil the social 

responsibility for corporate development, environmental protection, and ecological balance. Upholding to the historical 

mission of “Green” in pursuit of environmental protection since its establishment, the Group has incorporated the 

environmental protection ideas into its production, procurement, marketing, consumption and other process and injected 

green culture into different levels by using green technology, developing new green products, implementing green 

production and commencing green marketing and green services.

The Group responds to the Ten Principles on human rights, labor, the environment and anti-corruption stated in the UN Global 

Compact, and strives to making the principles part of our business strategy, corporate culture and daily operations.

UN Global Compact Current Situation of the Group  

Principle 1: Businesses should  

support and respect the protection of 

internationally proclaimed human rights

The Group strictly abides by the laws, regulations and rules of the nation 

and the countries where it operates. We support human rights in the 

workplace and in the community, and strive to improve and respect 

globally recognized protection of human rights and effectively safeguard 

the legitimate rights and interests of employees.

Principle 2: Make sure that they are not 

complicit in human rights abuses.

The Group promises that the company will not be involved in any human 

rights violations.

Principle 3: Businesses should uphold the 

freedom of association and the effective 

recognition of the right to collective 

bargaining

The Group understands the importance of employees’ opinion. Employees 

are entitled to the freedom of association and collective bargaining 

power.

Principle 4: Businesses should eliminate all 

forms of forced and compulsory labor

The Group respects human rights in the workplace and will never tolerate 

any form of forced labor.

Principle 5: Businesses should promote the 

abolition of child labor

The Group strictly prohibits hiring of any form of child labor. It verifies the 

original copy of the identity documents and academic certificates of new 

employee as a dual-verification approach to prevent child labor.

Principle 6: Elimination of discrimination in 

respect of employment and occupation

The Group upholds the concept of diversity and non-discrimination. By 

taking the stand of “respect, adaptation, tolerance and integration”, we 

eliminate discrimination in race, nationality, religion, disability, gender, 

education, etc. We provide equal opportunities and prohibit both 

tangible and intangible sexual harassment, bullying and discrimination in 

the workplace.
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UN Global Compact Current Situation of the Group  

Principle 7: A precautionary approach to 

environmental challenges

The Group is prepared to cope with climate change and environmental 

challenges. We have incorporated issues such as climate change into the 

Group’s risk management system to reduce environmental risks and seize 

opportunities.

Principle 8: Undertake initiatives to promote 

greater environmental responsibility

The Group aims to refine its business operations to be more environmentally 

sustainable. We are taking steps to mitigate the impacts on the 

environment brought about by our operating processes.

Principle 9: Encourage the development 

and diffusion of environmentally friendly 

technologies

The Group strives to explore opportunities for using environmentally-

friendly technologies in our business operations.

Principle 10: Work against corruption in all its 

forms, including extortion and bribery

The Group emphasizes the importance of anti-corruption in the supply 

chain. We strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations, such as 

competition laws, anti-bribery laws and privacy laws. In addition, trainings 

are organized to enhance employees’ awareness of compliance.

We continue to support the United Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Sustainable Development 

Goals (“SDGs”). In response to the universal call by the United Nations Member States, the Group aligns its sustainability 

strategy with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”). It actively promotes the realization of the global 

sustainable development goals, and is committed to eradicating poverty by 2030, protecting the earth and ensuring a 

peaceful and prosperous world for all. For more details on the SDGs, please visit https://sdgs.un.org/goals.

ESG category ESG issues Relevance to business operations UN’s Sustainable Development Goal    

Environment A1: Emissions

A2: Use of resources

A3: Environment and 

natural resources

T h e C o m p a n y i s  c o m m i t t e d t o  i m p r o v i n g 

r e s o u r c e  e f f i c i e n c y ,  a d d r e s s i n g  c l i m a t e 

change and using innovative technologies. 

We strictly abide by environment-related laws 

and regulat ions ,  and act ive ly improve the 

environmental performance of our operations. 

The Group devoted to build a sustainable city and 

community.

Clean Water and 

Sanitation

Affordable Clean 

Energy

Responsible 

Consumption and 

Production

Climate Action
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ESG category ESG issues Relevance to business operations UN’s Sustainable Development Goal    

Employment and 

labor practices

B1:  Employment The Group is committed to creating a people-

oriented working environment. We promote 

multiculturalism and value health and safety. We 

actively cultivate talents, provide appropriate 

support and equal opportunities, and support the 

positive development of our employees.

Gender Equality

Decent Work and 

Economic Growth

Reduced 

Inequality

B2: Health and safety

Good Health and 

Well-being

B3: Development 

and training

B4: Labor standards

Gender Equality 

Decent Work and 

Economic Growth

Reduced 

Inequality

Operating Practices B5: Supply chain 

management

The Group is committed to building a sustainable 

supply chain that strikes a balance in terms of 

environment, society and governance. We take 

the initiative to establish long-term and mutually 

beneficial partnerships with suppliers, strengthen 

communication and implement management.

Partnerships for 

the Goals
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ESG category ESG issues Relevance to business operations UN’s Sustainable Development Goal    

B6: Product 

responsibility

The Group has always adhered to the concept 

of putting customers first, and is committed to 

providing quality products and services that 

exceed customer expectations. We always keep 

ourselves updated to understand customer 

needs, safeguard customer rights and protect 

their  health and safety through innovat ive 

technology.

Good Health and 

Well-being

Industry, 

Innovation and 

Infrastructure

Responsible 

Consumption and 

Production

B7: Anti-corruption The Group advocates integr i ty and ethica l 

operations, we adopt a “zero-tolerance” approach 

t o w a r d s  a n y  f o r m  o f  c o r r u p t i o n ,  a n d  a r e 

committed to complying with all relevant anti-

bribery regulations in different jurisdictions.
Peace, Justice and 

Strong Institution 

B8: Community 

investment

The Group is attent ive to the needs of the 

communities in which we operate. We invest 

in encouraging sports for charity, supporting 

the underprivileged, promoting education and 

holistic development, to create a positive impact 

on the society. 

No Poverty

Good Health and 

Well-being

Sustainable Cities 

and Community
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Governance Structure

The Group's Sustainability Governance Structure

Board 

Audit Committee 

ESG Reporting Group Management of all business units

The Board assumes the leadership and supervisory role of the Group. The Board reviews and manages ESG-related issues 

and risks every year, to ensure those issues are included within the ambit of our strategies and lead the Group to formulate 

and achieve long-term strategies and goals. The Group has set up an ESG Reporting Working Group and the members of 

the working group are selected from the Group’s Environmental Protection Team, Human Resources and Administration 

Department, Safety Office, Procurement Department, System Section, Maintenance Team and workshop. The working group 

is responsible for monitoring sustainability performance and goals, reviewing the opinions of stakeholders, and collecting ESG 

data and information to prepare the Group’s annual ESG Report which is reported to the Board for approval. The Report was 

approved by the Board on 30 March, 2023 after being confirmed by the management.

Internal Control and Risk Management
The Group has established the risk management and internal control system. The Board reviews the effectiveness of the 

system and control measures through the audit committee of the Company every year, which include but are not limited 

to controlling finance, operation, compliance and sustainable operation, and engages external independent professionals 

to assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group through internal interviews. The Board believes that the internal 

control and risk management system is effective and sufficient. The Board is in overall charge of developing the Group’s ESG 

strategies and reports, as well as monitoring and managing ESG-related risks.

By upholding to the historical mission of “Green” in pursuit of environmental protection since its establishment, the Group 

has incorporated the environmental protection ideas into its production, procurement, marketing, consumption and other 

process and injected green culture into different levels, in order to bring better changes to surrounding communities and the 

environment in a positive way. As we embark on this sustainability journey, we are well aware of our stakeholder’s expectations 

and certainly take this responsibility to heart. The Group will continue to operate and develop through sustainable principles 

as we pursue our goals for the future.
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3. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
3.1 Communication with Stakeholders

The Group strives to collect opinions from stakeholders through different means of communication, including 

shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, contractors, investors, governmental agencies, non-government 

agencies, media, regulatory agencies and the public. We protect their interests to maintain the long-term development 

direction of the Group and a close relationship with them. The Group’s operating data and overall performance will be 

summarized in the Company’s interim report and annual report every six months, and made available to stakeholders 

via the company’s website http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/alltronics/index.htm.

The table below outlines the activities and channels we organized to communicate with major stakeholders and 

understand their concerns:

Major stakeholders Communication channel

Investors Meetings with investors, annual general meetings, emails, investor relation hotline, 

investor mailboxes and announcements, etc.

Customers Customer service hotline, company website, email, meeting and social media, etc.

Employees Emails, meetings, staff meetings, appraisal and intranet, etc.

Suppliers Emails, meetings, supplier performance evaluations and meetings with suppliers, etc.

Community Emails, meetings, company websites, etc.
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3.2 Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment
In order to disclose sustainability issues that are closely relevant to major stakeholders, in the year 2022 and during the 

time of preparing the Report, the Group has updated the materiality assessment through questionnaires of the Board 

and stakeholders to identify the sustainability issues that are most important to the Group and its stakeholders. The list 

of materiality issues and the results of the assessment have been submitted to the Board for confirmation and approval.

We take four steps to prepare materiality assessments:

•  To identify major ESG issues that are considered relevant and important to 
our businesses and stakeholders based on the ESG guidelines issued by the 
Stock Exchange, company policies and management strategies, 
characteristics of the industry, and business risks and opportunities.

•  To conduct a questionnaire survey and invite stakeholders including the 
board, employees, suppliers and customers to evaluate the importance of 
each issue from their own perspectives.

•  To select the important issues, draw the materiality assessment matrix, and 
obtain the preliminary evaluation results, so as to determine the strategic 
focus of sustainable development and improve the governance of 
sustainable development.

•  The ESG Working Group will discuss about and identify the assessment 
result to get final results of the materiality assessment. Final results are 
reported to the Board.

1. Identification

2. Collecting 
Opinions

3. Prioritisation

4. Confirmation
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After taking the above materiality assessment process, the results obtained are as follows:

Materiality Assessment Matrix

Importance towards the Development of Alltronics Material

Material

Less material

Im
po

rt
an

ce
 to

w
ar

ds
 E

xt
er

na
l S

ta
ke

ho
ld

er
s

Health and Safety

Anti-Corruption Product 
Responsibility

Procurement and 
Supply Chain 
Management

Community 
Investment

Use Of Resources

Emissions

Equal Opportunities

Climate Change

Talent Management
and Development

The Environment and 
Natural Resources

Employee Bene�t
and Welfare

Highly important 

issues

Health and safety

Talent management and development

Product responsibility

Anti-corruption

Moderately 

important  

issues

Procurement and supply chain management 

Staff benefits and welfares  

Environment and natural resources

Equal opportunities

Use of resources

Staff benefits

Emissions

Low important 

issues

Climate change Community investment
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT
In response to the risks and opportunities that sustainable development brings to the operation of the Group, the Board and 

the ESG Working Group will hold meetings from time to time to assess ESG risks in all aspects of the Group’s operations and 

formulate relevant improvement measures based on the identified risks, including the manufacturing process, product quality, 

working environment and resource allocation to mitigate its negative impact. This year, we have carried out risk scoring for the 

identified ESG issues. The followings are the 4 ESG issues with relatively higher risk scores.

Environment and Natural Resources
Talent Management and Development
Procurement and Supply Chain Management
Product Responsibility

Regarding the high-risk issues shown above, we have promoted the following measures to mitigate and control the impact of 

risks:

Risk issues Risk Descriptions Measures Taken   

Environment and 

Natural Resources

Emissions from the production process 

have an impact on the environment 

and climate change. The lack of proper 

env i ronmenta l  management can 

bring a threat to environment and 

biodiversity of the operating areas, 

affect the market reputation of the 

Group’s products, and miss out on 

further opportunities for a future low-

carbon economy.

In addition to implementing a number of measures 

to reduce the negative impact on the environment 

b r o u g h t  b y  o u r  o p e r a t i o n ,  t h e  G r o u p  a l s o 

encourages employees to participate in relevant 

training in environmental protection, such as online 

seminars, to increase environmental awareness and 

reduce use of resources.

We will continue to conduct monitoring on exhaust 

gas and waste water to ensure that the emission 

concentrations are all up to standard. Besides, the 

equipment and facilities will be upgraded to further 

reduce gas emissions and enhance efficiency.

Talent Management 

and Development

As global concerns about discrimination, 

g e n d e r  a n d  f a i r  r e m u n e r a t i o n 

continue to rise, if companies ignore 

personnel management risks, they 

may lead to the risk of insufficient 

supply of human resources, the risk 

of a substantial increase in labor costs 

and the risk of unstable workforce.

The Group has always been aiming for “An Excellent 

Employer ”  and commit ted to prov id ing our 

employees with a harmonious and safe working 

environment where each of them will be respected. 

We also arranged training courses and provided 

career development opportunities to its employees 

as appropriate so that they can pursue excellence 

at work. Besides, we review and improve relevant 

policies on a regular basis to ensure that we comply 

with local laws and industry standards.
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Risk issues Risk Descriptions Measures Taken   

Procurement and 

Supply Chain 

Management

Rapid changes in the internat ional 

political and economic environment, 

such as the novel  v i rus ,  nat ional 

p o l i t i c a l  t u r m o i l ,  r a w  m a t e r i a l 

shortages, labor shortages, and even 

wars, possibly affect the production 

efficiency of factories, or cause extra 

costs for rebuilt the broken supply 

chain, and may cause enterprise suffer 

from serious financial losses or even 

shutdown.

Our Shenzhen factory establ ished the Suppl ier 

Eva luat ion Management P rocedure and the 

Procurement Management Procedure to manage 

externa l  suppl iers  and thei r  supply process , 

products and services.

The Group has more than two long-term suppliers 

of raw materials, and the suppliers all come from 

surrounding countries and cities, that enabling the 

Group to resume work and normal production in 

a short period of time even under the past global 

shutdown.

Product Responsibility If there is a defect in the product causing 

injury or property loss to consumers 

and users, the producer or seller shall 

be l iable for legal  compensat ion 

according to law.

The Group has formulated and implemented the 

Management Review Management Procedures to 

ensure that the products and services under review 

meet the quality requirements of customers and the 

Group and comply with laws and regulations.
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5. ENVIRONMENT
5.1 Environmental Protection Target

To fulfill its corporate social responsibility, the Group actively integrates environmental protection concepts into its daily 

operations to ensure environmentally responsible operations, prevent pollution and reduce resource consumption. In 

addition, the following targets for were established to mitigate the environmental impacts arising from the operations.

Environmental Targets Measures taken during the Year Progress   

The Group set a goal of reducing electricity 

consumption by 2-4% year-on-year in 

order to reduce waste

We advocate the use of energy-saving, efficient 

and envi ronment- f r iendly construct ion 

equipment,  tools and off ice appl iances 

r e c o m m e n d e d  b y  t h e  s t a t e  a n d  t h e 

industry. Moreover, we adopted solar power 

generation for part of our Shenzhen factory.

Target achieved in 

2022

The Group set a goal of reducing waste 

production by 2-4% year-on-year in 

order to reduce waste

Non-hazardous waste is sorted and managed, 

with useful resources collected and handed 

over to an accredited recycling contractor for 

handling. For example, cornerscraps, waste 

defective products, packaging wastes and 

other general solid wastes will be disposed of 

by the sanitation department or recycled by 

the manufacturers.

Shenzhen factory improved the design of the 

connection point for printed circuit board 

(“PCB”) so that it can pass directly through 

the wave furnace, which reduces the amount 

of adhesive tape used for protection and the 

operating cost of the pasting process. Going 

forward, we will continue to seek ways to 

improve product design and the application 

of environmental ly fr iendly materials to 

reduce the consumpt ion of  packaging 

materials and the use of resources.

Target achieved in 

2022

The Group has set a goal of reducing water 

consumption by 3-5% year-on-year

The Shenzhen factory carr ied out a “pipe 

dripping” checkup to completely eliminate 

pipe dripping and reduce waste of water.

Target achieved in 

2022
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5.2 Emissions

The Group controls emissions of exhaust gas, greenhouse gas and waste water, and reduces the generation of 
hazardous and non-hazardous waste by adopting a series of measures to reduce environmental impacts, in order 
to achieve its continuous commitment to environmental protection. Implement relevant environmental protection 
measures in business operations, including establishing and implementing an updated environmental quality 
management system, installing ventilation devices in the factory, and maintaining exhaust gas processing equipment 
regularly.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations of the places where this Report covers, including the 
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China. During the Reporting Period, the Group had no 
violations related to emissions, and all emissions satisfied relevant national standards.

The table below sets out the amount of each emission produced by the Shenzhen factory in the last three Reporting 
Years (including the Reporting Year):

Type of emission Emission (Unit)
Reporting Year 

of 2022
Reporting Year 

of 2021
Reporting Year 

of 2020     

Exhaust gas Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (Kg) 10.09 164.39 8,803.24
Sulphur oxides (SOx) (Kg) 0.70 1.68 43.80
Particulate matters (PM) (Kg) 0.79 15.01 0.03

Notes: The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs published by the Stock Exchange. In 2022 and 2020, there 
were no diesel for generators purchased, so the air pollutants (particulate matter) in 2022 and 2020 decreased compared with 2021. In the 
future, we will continue to explore opportunities to control exhaust gas.

Type of emission Emission (Unit)
Reporting Year 

of 2022
Reporting Year 

of 2021
Reporting Year 

of 2020     

Greenhouse gas Total emission (tonnes of CO2e) 2,918.93 3,804.89 4,401.21
Scope 1: Direct emissions  

(tonnes of CO2e) 213.61 333.86 425.38
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions 

(tonnes of CO2e) 2,704.99 3,470.17 3,975.83
Total greenhouse gas emission 

intensity  
(tonnes of CO2e/employee) 2.59 3.68 3.21

Notes: The calculations were based on the Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange, 2006 IPCC Guidelines for 
National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, and the 2019 Baseline Emission Factor of China Regional Power Grid 
for Emission Reduction Projects;

Scope 1 includes emissions from fixed combustion of natural gas, acetylene emissions from diesel and gasoline combustion of vehicles, 
and fugitive emissions from carbon dioxide fire extinguishers;

Scope 2 includes emissions of electricity consumed.
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Type of emission Emission (Unit)

Reporting Year 

of 2022

Reporting Year 

of 2021

Reporting Year 

of 2020     

Waste Total hazardous solid waste 

(tonnes) 1.12 2.83 0.79

Hazardous solid waste intensity 

(tonnes/employee) 0.001 0.003 0.001

Total non-hazardous solid waste 

(tonnes) 77.14 111.50 69.70

Non-hazardous solid waste 

intensity (tonnes/employee) 0.069 0.108 0.051

5.3 Use of Resources

In order to make more effective and prudent use of all resources including energy, water and other natural resources, we 

have established the “Energy Conservation Policy”, the “Water Conservation Policy for Daily Operations” and the “Green 

Office Resource Policy”, and have also provided our staff with more specific advices and measures for the management 

of energy, water and packaging materials. We conduct clean production to reduce pollution, save energy, reduce 

consumption of raw materials and water resources, reduce production costs of the Company, promote economic 

growth of the Company, and enhance comprehensive economic benefits of the Company. In addition, in order to 

reduce our dependence on fossil fuels, we used efficient air conditioners and electric vehicles in the past. In the future, 

the Group will seek more opportunities to use renewable energy so as to reduce environmental pollution.

The water consumed by our Group comes from municipal water supplies, there were no issues related to sourcing 

water. In order to cherish the precious water resources, the Group makes every effort to maximize the water resources 

used in its business operations. The water we consume is mainly the domestic water used by employees. Therefore, 

our equipment management department is responsible for implementing water-saving policies and regulations of the 

Group, formulating the Group’s water-saving measures and standards, and formulating water- saving action plan and 

assessment indicators for annual water-saving plan. We issue assessment indicators and control plans for energy and 

water resources to the whole factory by means of a formal submission. factory, and put them in place by phases.

For the packaging plastics, we endeavor to minimize the amount of plastic packaging materials used in production 

while meeting the standards, to avoid unnecessary plastic consumption while reducing the generation of plastic waste. 

As to office paper, the Group used to use a large amount of paper for printing, mostly single- sided printing, but now we 

shift from single-sided printing to double-sided printing to improve paper utilization. We also advocate paperless and 

green office.
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The table below sets out the total consumption and intensity of major resources of the Shenzhen factory in the last 
three Reporting Years (including the Reporting Year):

Type of energy Unit
Reporting Year 

of 2022
Reporting Year 

of 2021
Reporting Year 

of 2020     

Total energy consumption kWh 5,620,456.79 5,543,442.54 6,307,045.98
Total energy consumption intensity kWh/employee 4,995.96 5,355.98 4,600.33

Direct energy consumption kWh 430,113.89 1,060,468.54 765,733.99
Direct energy consumption intensity kWh/employee 382.32 1,024.61 558.52
Which includes:

Fuel consumption kWh 430,113.89 614,249.46 752,510.66
Fuel consumption intensity kWh/employee 382.32 593.48 548.88
Gas consumption kWh – 446,219.08 13,223.33
Gas consumption intensity kWh/employee – 431.13 9.65

Indirect energy consumption kWh 4,655,743.00 4,380,973.00 4,751,800.00
Indirect energy consumption  

intensity kWh/employee 4,138.44 4,232.82 3,465.94
Which includes:

Electricity consumption kWh 4,655,743.00 4,380,973.00 4,751,800.00
Electricity consumption intensity kWh/employee 4,138.44 4,232.82 3,465.94

Renewable energy (solar power) 
consumption kWh 104,486.00 102,001.00 23,778.00

Renewable energy (solar power) 
consumption intensity kWh/employee 160.43 98.55 17.34

Note: Energy data is referenced to the low calorific value conversion in kilowatt-hours provided by the International Energy Agency.

The table below sets out the total water consumption and intensity of the Shenzhen factory in the last three Reporting 
Years (including the Reporting Year):

Water consumption Unit
Reporting Year 

of 2022
Reporting Year 

of 2021
Reporting Year 

of 2020     

Water consumption m3 180,484.00 187,498.00 185,810.00
Water consumption intensity m3/employee 160.43 181.16 135.53

The table below sets out the total consumption and intensity of packaging materials of the Shenzhen factory in the last 
three Reporting Years (including the Reporting Year):

Packaging materials consumption Unit
Reporting Year 

of 2022
Reporting Year 

of 2021
Reporting Year 

of 2020     

Packaging materials tonnes 3,020.51 3,089.34 4,667.19
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5.4 Environment and Natural Resources

The Group integrates environmental responsibility into its daily business operations. To this end, the Group promotes 

green operations and a green procurement policy to reduce its environmental impact and consumption of natural 

resources. The Group actively promotes sustainable development to its supply chain. At meetings with stakeholders, the 

Group often advocates the importance of “reducing carbon emissions” and introduces the environmental benefits of its 

products in product promotion publications.

The Group also attaches great importance to environmental protection training for employees. In the first quarter of 

each year, the Shenzhen factory will include environmental protection training in the Annual Training List formulated by 

the Human Resources Department. We also encourage employees to attend environmental talks during office hours to 

raise their awareness of environmental protection.

The Group has formulated the Green Procurement Policy which requires giving preference to environment- 

friendly materials on the basis of meeting our requirements. The Policy also requires suppliers to obtain ISO 14001 

environmental management system certification. The Group implements a full set of green measures. The materials, 

processes and equipment we use must meet the requirements of RoHS, REACH and Halogen Free in order to eliminate 

the use of toxic and hazardous substances and reduce the impact on the environment.

5.5 Climate Change
In response to sudden extreme weather such as severe cold or super typhoon, the Group has formulated corresponding 

measures to mitigate the risks caused by it. For example,

Type of Risk Description of Risk Measures for Tackling Risks   

Policies and laws Regulatory requirements in operations, 

products and services in re lat ion 

to c l imate change became more 

strict, that leading to the increase 

i n  o p e r a t i n g  c o s t s ,  i n c l u d i n g 

costs of compliance and product 

development costs.

A l l  f a c t o r i e s  i m p l e m e n t e d  a  n u m b e r  o f 

energy-sav ing and emiss ion-reduct ion 

measures, as well as strictly complied with all 

environmental-related laws and regulations 

in the past. During the Year, the Group also 

set targets for reducing waste, electricity 

consumption and water consumption, that 

go beyond basic legal requirement, in order 

to minimize regulatory risk.
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Type of Risk Description of Risk Measures for Tackling Risks   

Long-term Risk Env i ronmenta l  changes caused by 

c l imate changes ,  such as ra infa l l 

f l u c t u a t i n g ,  a d v e r s e  w e a t h e r 

condit ions and novel v i rus being 

p r o d u c e d ,  c o u l d  h a v e l e d  t o  a n 

adverse effect on employees’ health, 

“office hour mode” and supply chain. 

This results in a ra ise in the cost 

of medical  insurance and further 

arrangements need to be made to 

adjust working timetables.

In response to the Covid-19 pandamic, the 

Group implemented policies to enhance 

the occupational health and safety of our 

employees .  Measures inc lude a l lowing 

employees to work  f rom home dur ing 

pandemic, in order to resume our business 

more quickly.

In addition, the Group has two or more long-

term suppliers for each raw material, who 

are from the neighbouring country and city, 

that facilitates the Group to resume work and 

maintain normal production in a short time 

over the world’s lockdown.

Market Risk Customers are paying more attentions to 

climate change, so they prefer green 

products. The Group will fail to meet 

customers’ satisfaction if it failed to 

provide green products

The Group went for  c lean product ion to 

reduce pollution, save energy, raw materials 

and water, that resulting in a lower cost of 

production cost.

I n  t h e  f u t u r e ,  t h e  G r o u p  w i l l  s e e k  t o 

improve product design and the use of 

environmental ly-fr iendly mater ia ls ,  and 

carry out green certification for products, 

so as to increase the confidence of external 

stakeholders in the Group’s products.
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6. SOCIAL
6.1 Employment

The Group believes that employees are an indispensable part of the sustainable development of an enterprise. We are 

committed to make unremitting efforts to attract and retain outstanding talents and build a strong and solid human 

capital. The Group strictly abides by the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of the 

People’s Republic of China and the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China. During the reporting period, 

the Group did not have any cases of violation of relevant employment laws and regulations, nor did it receive any 

complaints related to recruitment.

We have formulated the Personnel and Logistics Management Measure to standardize the recruitment procedures and 

ensure that job candidates are not treated differently based on gender, place of origin, registered residence, etc. The job 

candidates shall not be discriminated against due to ethnicity, national origin, race, sex, language, and religious belief. 

The Group prohibits any form of discrimination, respects the personal freedom of employees, and protects personal 

privacy of employees.

The Group encourages continuous improvement of employees by providing competitive remuneration packages 

in the market, determining the remuneration based on the value of the position, and giving higher remuneration to 

outperforming employees. In order to provide employees with the clear and specific promotion ladders and criteria, 

we developed criteria for performance appraisal and set up an internal performance management system, and conduct 

employee performance appraisal on a regular basis.

The Group provides employees with relevant benefits according to the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of 

China, Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances and other regulations, to make contribution to medical insurance 

for employees, provide them with statutory leave and vacation, and paternity and maternity leaves that go beyond 

the legal requirements, including five types of social insurances and one housing fund, namely, pension insurance, 

medical insurance, work injury insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and housing provident 

fund. The holidays it provides include national statutory holidays, marriage leave, maternity leave, prenatal check-up 

leave, breastfeeding leave, paternity leave, work injury leave, bereavement leave and annual leave. The Group signs 

employment contracts with all employees and follows the standards stipulated in the contracts when the dismissal 

procedures need to be executed.

The Group has set up a rigorous and prudent dismissal process in accordance with the Labor Law of the People’s 

Republic of China and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong. We formulated the Retirement Policy and the 

Compensation Policy. The Group shall handle retirement formalities for employees who have reached the statutory 

retirement age in accordance with the relevant regulations and will go through any dismissal procedures according to 

the Labor Law. In the event of a work-related accident, the Group will make reasonable compensation and handle it 

properly in accordance with relevant laws.



ALLTRONICS HOLDINGS LIMITED34

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The following table sets out the total number and distribution of employees at the Shenzhen factory as at 31 December 

2022:

Category Reporting Year of 2022  

By gender

Male 568

Female 557

By employment type

Full-time 1,125

Part-time 0

Apprentices and interns 0

By age group

Under 25 256

Aged 25 to 34 476

Aged 35 to 44 267

Aged 45 to 54 94

Aged 55 to 64 32

Over 65 0

By region

China 1,125

North America 0

Other regions 0

Note: The calculation was based on the “Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs”issued by the Stock Exchange.

Employee turnover rate of the Shenzhen factory by different categories is as follows:

Category Reporting Year of 2022  

By gender

Male 5.66%

Female 4.29%

By age group

Under 25 3.97%

Aged 25 to 34 6.07%

Aged 35 to 44 6.18%

Aged 45 to 54 0.53%

Aged 55 to 64 0%

Over 65 0%

By region

China 4.99%

North America 0%

Other regions 0%

Note: The calculation was based on “Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs”issued by the Stock Exchange.
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6.2 Health and Safety

We have a sound mechanism to manage occupational health and safety-related matters, including identifying inherent 

risks during operation, and conducting regular inspections and assessments to comply with the Fire Protection Law of 

the People’s Republic of China, the Safe Production Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s 

Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and other laws and regulations. The Group 

has been actively striving to protect employees and maintain their welfare by adopting various occupational safety and 

health (“OSH”) measures, including but not limited to the following:

• All employees are required to comply with its safety rules which stipulate the responsibilities and safety concerns 

of different positions in the workplace. In order to improve the Group’s ability to cope with risks and prevent 

accidents;

• a safety team has been established to be responsible for safety management, accident prevention, emergency 

rescue, and occupational health of employees;

• provide employees with adequate occupational health and safety training and regularly promote workplace 

safety culture, so as to identify high-risk areas in the workplace and develop countermeasures, reduce work-

related risks, prevent work-related accidents and cut down occupational hazards;

• The occupational safety and health measures were taken, include adopting safety technical measures to protect 

employees from work-related accidents, covering protective devices, safety devices, signal devices, fire and 

explosion-proof facilities, etc; and

• The Group conducts regular maintenance and repairs on occupational disease protection equipment, emergency 

rescue facilities and personal occupational disease protection products, and regularly tests their performance and 

effect to ensure that they are in a normal state.

The table below sets out the statistics of work-related injuries at the Shenzhen factory in the last three Reporting Years 

(including the Reporting Year):

Reporting Year 

of 2022

Reporting Year 

of 2021

Reporting Year 

of 2020    

Work-related fatalities 0 0 0

Ratio of work-related fatalities (%) 0 0 0

Number of work days lost due to work-related injuries 0 0 0
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6.3 Development and Training

The experienced and professional staff is key to our business development and future success. In view of the increasing 

complexity of the market, the occupational development path of the Group allows the development needs of the 

Group to match with the career development goals, interests and strength of employees. Employees can grow together 

with the Group to achieve their life values and dreams through knowledge accumulation and skills improvement.

• Establish the Annual Training List based on business strategies and plans and employees’ views. Formulate 

a series of career development plans for employees, including internal and external training, to encourage 

employees to learn advanced knowledge, skills and management experience, to comprehensively improve their 

literacy;

• New employees are required to receive orientation training to familiarize with their respective department’s 

business operations and quickly meet the job requirements. In particular, workers engaged in skilled jobs must 

undergo training before taking up their jobs:

• Provide employees with training-specific expenses for specialized technical training, the employees should 

work on relevant technical jobs according to the company arrangements, and provide the internal training and 

tutoring for other employee; and

• Organize supervisors or technicians to inspect and training at abroad as planned according to the company 

business development.

The table below sets forth the monthly average of employees trained at the Shenzhen factory during the Reporting 

Year:

Reporting Year of 2022

The percentage of 

employees trained

The average training 

hours completed 

per employee   

Gender

Male 50.49% 2

Female 49.51% 2

Employment type

Senior management 0.80% 2

Middle management 0.89% 2

Supervisor 1.60% 2

General employee 96.71% 2

Note: The calculation was based on “Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs”issued by the Stock Exchange.
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6.4 Labor Standards
Prevention of Child Labor

The Group prohibits the recruitment of child labor and has zero tolerance of forced labor. We strictly comply with 

laws and regulations such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s 

Republic of China, the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong. 

The Group reviews the relevant documents that show the age of job applicants, such as identity card and graduation 

certificate in recruitment, onboarding approval and onboarding registration process. If child labor is found, we will 

stop their work immediately and carry out investigation to identify the loophole, implementing remedial measures to 

prevent the event from happening again.

Prevention of Forced Labor

In the process of employment, the Group, in accordance with the above relevant laws, respects the right of every 

employee to choose jobs, including freedom of employment, freedom to resign, freedom to work overtime and 

freedom of movement. The Group strictly prohibits any forms of forced labor, including contract labor and bonded 

labor, and never forces employees to work overtime. Employees have the right to form and join trade unions to 

safeguard their personal rights. We will carry out investigation immediately if we find the occurrence of overtime work 

to ensure that no employee works overtime involuntarily. The human resources department will also regularly check 

the work and attendance records every month. If overtime work is required based on the needs of manufacturing 

operations or under special circumstances, it shall be agreed with the employees and assured that the physical 

conditions of the employees are not affected. The employees shall be compensated for working overtime.

6.5 Supply Chain Management

Engagement of Supplier

The Group has established internal rules to standardize the process of open tendering and bidding. We adopt 

evaluation criteria of “fairness, equality and openness” in the process of selecting and evaluating suppliers. We also 

require suppliers to declare their interests to avoid conflicts of interests or transfer of interests. In addition, we will also 

clarify our principles and expectations to our partners, and require them to abide by all laws, international conventions, 

contractual requirements and all standards set out by the Group. Meanwhile, we have also established an effective 

mechanism to ensure that both parties act in strict accordance with laws and regulations.

Supplier Performance Evaluation

In order to ensure that the performance of suppliers continues to meet the requirements of the Group, we will evaluate 

the performance of suppliers in the past year through annual assessments. To this end, the Group has established a 

series of evaluation guidelines, including regular review of whether to continue to maintain the cooperative relationship 

with each supplier based on the supplier’s past experience, price, reputation, professional qualifications, ethics, 

environmental protection and corporate social responsibility performance, etc..
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Monitoring ESG Risks in Supply Chain

During material procurement and outsourcing, the Group will also comprehensively consider the environmental 

performance of suppliers, for example, suppliers will be evaluated in advance and all materials used by the Group 

must meet the standards of RoHS environmental protection requirements. Meanwhile, we require them to abide 

by the Group’s principles of sustainable development, such as labor treatment, etc, so as to promote the Group’s 

environmental protection vision throughout the supply chain.

The table below sets out the distribution of suppliers for the Shenzhen factory as at 31 December 2022:

Supplier Distribution Reporting Year of 2022  

Number of Suppliers by Region

Hong Kong 177

China 372

Other regions 14

Note: All suppliers of the Group are required to implement relevant supplier practices

6.6 Product Responsibility

The Group is very concerned about the quality of the products we provide, so it has formulated a number of policies 

to encourage ourselves to provide better products. The Group attaches great importance to the spirit of a contract, 

and the specifications of all products will be clearly stipulated in the contract. It is necessary to ensure that customers 

understand the details of the contract to protect the rights and interests of both buyers and sellers.

Quality Assurance System

The Group has maintained a sound ISO9001 quality system and made continuous improvements thereon for many 

years, to provide high-quality products. The Group formulated and implemented the Procedures for Management 

Review and conduct management review at least once a year to ensure the effectiveness of it. In addition, the quality 

control department is responsible for checking the quality of products and services, to ensure that products meet 

quality and technical requirements, and provide a remedy for serious problems in a timely manner, so as to ensure the 

products under review meet the quality requirements of customers and the Group and satisfy laws and regulations. 

During the Reporting Period, no product had to be recalled due to safety and health reasons.
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Customer Service

We are committed to providing high-quality customer service and have established a customer complaint mechanism 

so that we can communicate with customers, listen to their opinions, and solve their problems as soon as possible. The 

Group will conduct surveys and collect customer opinions through visits and sending out the Customer Satisfaction 

Survey to customers. Regardless the opinions of the customer are positive or negative, the opinions will be discussed 

and analyzed for the continuous improvement of the Group. Customers can express their opinions on us through the 

company website, customer service hotline, dedicated account manager and social media. We also formulated and 

implemented the Maintenance Service Management Procedures to provide customers with after-sales maintenance 

services when necessary. During the Reporting Period, complaint cases received by the Shenzhen factory are as follows:

Reporting Year of 2022  

Number of complaints received about products and services 0

Total number of complaint cases handled 0

Customer Data Protection and Privacy Policy

The Group places utmost importance on protecting the privacy of its customers in the collection, processing and use 

of their personal data. The Group adheres to the applicable data protection regulations and ensures that appropriate 

technical measures are in place to protect personal data against unauthorized use or access. The Group also ensures 

that customers’ personal data is securely kept and processed, and is used only for the purposes for which the data is 

collected. During the reporting period, there were no cases of information leaking, theft or loss of customer information.

Intellectual Property Protection

The Group endeavors to protect intellectual property rights and refuses to provide products or services that infringe 

copyright or intellectual property rights. The Group undertakes to use only genuine products. Our purchasing managers 

will review the goods to be purchased to prevent the Group from purchasing illegal products. In terms of production, 

our engineering managers are responsible for reviewing every design to avoid using unauthorized photos and designs 

from third parties.

Fair Promotion Policy

The Group adheres to the principle of fair promotion to ensure that product information on the Group’s publicity 

website and other promotional materials is true and accurate, and does not contain any false, exaggerated or excessive 

statements. We formulated the Fair Promotion Message Policy to require sales staff to disseminate information that 

its accuracy is confirmed by the Group only when introducing products, and avoid any negative presentation against 

the company or products of its rivals, in order to prevent customers from being misled when purchasing. The factories 

provides trainings on services and/or products for relevant employees, such as sales staff and customer service staff, to 

ensure they provide accurate information in the sales and service process.



ALLTRONICS HOLDINGS LIMITED40

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

6.7 Anti-corruption
The Group strives to build up a corporate culture of integrity and business ethic. We established a clear and transparent 

standard of conduct to guide our employees and partners, which provides rules and guidelines for dealing with 

gifts, treats, transactions, financial management. The Board of Directors also regularly reviews the effectiveness of 

the internal control mechanism. The Group strictly complies with the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Anti-

money Laundering, Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations on anti-corruption, 

prevention of extortion, fraud and money laundering.

2022  

Number of concluded cases in relation to corruption against the Group 0

Corporate Governance Policy

The Group has formulated a comprehensive internal preventive monitoring and reporting system, with reference to the 

code provisions relevant to corporate governance set out in the listing rules the Group complied with, including good 

corporate governance practices, as well as local laws and regulations, and specified in detail the Group’s anti-corruption 

policies and handling principles to all employees, Suppliers, contractors and business partners.

Whistle-blowing Policies

In order to eradicate corruption, fraud and other incidents, the Group has set up whistleblowing channels and an 

investigation mechanism. When receiving any report of fraud, we will record it, collect relevant information on fraud, 

conduct preliminary analysis, and set up an investigation team to initiate investigation if necessary. The investigation 

team will conduct an investigation, estimate the losses caused by fraud and prepare an investigation report. After the 

final review of the investigation report, the handling plan will specify that the Group will terminate the labor contract 

with the party involved in the fraud and hand him/her over to the judicial authority for handling. Internally, we will 

take remedial measures to rectify any procedural defects or implementation loopholes found in the fraud incident and 

follow up the implementation of such remedial measures, so as to avoid recurrence of similar fraud incidents.

Independent Auditor Policy

The Group engages an independent auditing agency every year to verify the accuracy of the Group’s accounts to 

safeguard the interests of shareholders. The engagement of a financial auditing agency is decided by the Audit 

Committee, which is composed of independent non-executive directors.

Training on Anti-corruption

The Group arranges anti-corruption training for directors and employees every year, introducing the integrity risks they 

may face in the process of performing their duties, with the aim of raising the awareness of relevant staff on corruption 

prevention, so as to avoid violating the Company’s code of conduct and relevant laws and regulations. During the Year, 

the Group provided employees with anti-corruption training covering topics such as bribery prevention policy, conflict 

of interest declaration policy, blackmail prevention policy, money laundering prevention policy, and fraud prevention 

policy to enhance their awareness of business ethics.
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6.8 Community Investment

The Group respects the diverse cultures and existing traditions of various regions, takes the expectations and opinions 

of community groups very seriously, and undertakes to respond to the opinions of community members in due course. 

In addition, the Group will support projects that benefit the needs of the community where feasible, and collaborate 

with groups with a common vision to win and maintain mutual trust with all stakeholders, with a view to continuously 

contributing to the long-term development of the community. The Group proactively contacts community groups that 

match the Group’s corporate responsibility to learn about community needs.
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INDEX OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE OF THE STOCK 
EXCHANGE

A Environmental Section   

Aspect A.1 Emissions 5.2 Emissions

KPI A.1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 5.2 Emissions

KPI A.1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in 

tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per 

facility).

5.2 Emissions

KPI A.1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. 

per unit of production volume, per facility).

5.2 Emissions

KPI A.1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

5.2 Emissions

KPI A.1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 5.1 Environmental 

Protection Target

KPI A.1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a 

description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

5.1 Environmental 

Protection Target

Aspect A.2 Use of Resources 5.3 Use of Resources

KPI A.2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in 

total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

5.3 Use of Resources

KPI A.2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per 

facility).

5.3 Use of Resources

KPI A.2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 5.1 Environmental 

Protection Target

KPI A.2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, 

water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

5.1 Environmental 

Protection Target

KPI A.2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, 

with reference to per unit produced.

5.3 Use of Resources

Aspect A.3 Environment and Natural Resources 5.4 Environment and 

Natural Resources

KPI A.3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural 

resources and the actions taken to manage them.

There were no accidents 

that had a significant 

impact on the 

environment and 

natural resources 

during the Period.

Aspect A.4 Climate Change 5.5 Climate Change

KPI A.4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and 

those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

5.5 Climate Change
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B Social Section   

Aspect B.1 Employment 6.1 Employment

KPI B.1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age 

group and geographical region.

6.1 Employment

KPI B.1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 6.1 Employment

Aspect B.2 Health and Safety 6.2 Health and Safety

KPI B.2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years 

including the reporting year.

There were no work-

related fatalities 

in the past three 

years including the 

Reporting Period

KPI B.2.2 Lost days due to work injury. No work-related 

accidents during the 

Reporting Period

KPI B.2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are 

implemented and monitored.

6.2 Health and Safety

Aspect B.3 Development and Training 6.3 Development and 

Training

KPI B.3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. 

senior management, middle management).

6.3 Development and 

Training

KPI B.3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 

category.

6.3 Development and 

Training

Aspect B.4 Labor Standards 6.4 Labor Standards

KPI B.4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced 

labor.

6.4 Labor Standards

KPI B.4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. No violations during the 

Period

Aspect B.5 Supply Chain Management 6.5 Supply Chain 

Management

KPI B.5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 6.5 Supply Chain 

Management

KPI B.5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where 

the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and 

monitored.

6.5 Supply Chain 

Management

KPI B.5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the 

supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

6.5 Supply Chain 

Management

KPI B.5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products 

and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and 

monitored.

6.5 Supply Chain 

Management
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B Social Section   

Aspect B.6 Product Responsibility 6.6 Product 

Responsibility

KPI B.6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health 

reasons.

During the Period, 

no products were 

required to be recalled 

due to safety and 

health reasons

KPI B.6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are 

dealt with.

There were no 

complaints during 

the Period, and there 

was no recall of 

products due to quality 

problems

KPI B.6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property 

rights.

6.6 Product 

Responsibility

KPI B.6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 6.6 Product 

Responsibility

KPI B.6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are 

implemented and monitored.

6.6 Product 

Responsibility

Aspect B.7 Anti-corruption 6.7 Anti-corruption

KPI B.7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the 

issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the 

cases.

There were no legal cases 

regarding corrupt 

practices during the 

Period

KPI B.7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they 

are implemented and monitored.

6.7 Anti-corruption

KPI B.7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 6.7 Anti-corruption

Aspect B.8 Community Investment 6.8 Community 

Investment

KPI B.8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labor needs, 

health, culture, sport).

6.8 Community 

Investment

KPI B.8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 6.8 Community 

Investment
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the 

Company and recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the Company’s healthy development. The Company’s 

corporate governance practices are based on the principles and code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate 

Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on 

the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has complied with the Code Provisions of the CG Code. The Board will 

review and update the current practices regularly to ensure compliance with the latest practices in corporate governance to protect 

and maximise the interests of shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions as set out in the Model Code for 

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made 

specific enquiry of all Directors of the Company, all Directors of the Company confirmed that they had complied with the required 

standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

In addition, the Board also established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code for relevant senior 

management of the Company in respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETINGS
The Board’s primary responsibilities are to formulate the Group’s long-term corporate strategy, to oversee the management of the 

Group and to evaluate the performance of the Group. The Board is also responsible for the approval of annual and interim results, 

risk management, major acquisitions, and other significant operational and financial matters. Matters not specifically reserved to the 

Board and necessarily relate to the daily operations of the Group are delegated to the management under the supervision of the 

respective Directors and the leadership of the Chairman.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 2 June 2022, Ms. Yeung Po Wah, Mr. So Kin Hung, Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert 

and Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony retired by rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the Company and were re-elected as 

Directors by the shareholders at the annual general meeting. On 29 October 2022, Mr. Fan, William Chung Yue resigned as a non-

executive Director of the Company in pursuit of his retirement plan. Other than the above, there were no other changes in the board 

of directors of the Company during the year. The Board currently comprises five executive Directors and four independent non-

executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors: Mr. Lam Yin Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric (Chief Executive)

Ms. Yeung Po Wah

Mr. So Kin Hung

Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy

Independent non-executive Directors: Mr. Pang Kwong Wah

Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Lin Kam Sui
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Mr. Lam Yin Kee is an executive Director and the Chairman of the Group. Ms. Yeung Po Wah is an executive Director of the Group and 

the spouse of Mr. Lam Yin Kee. Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric is an executive Director and the Chief Executive of the Group and the son of Mr. 

Lam Yin Kee and Ms. Yeung Po Wah. Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy is an executive Director of the Group and the daughter of Mr. Lam Yin Kee 

and Ms. Yeung Po Wah. Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy is also the sister of Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric. Apart from these, there is no other direct family 

relationship amongst the members of the Board.

The background and qualifications of the Chairman of the Company and the other Directors are set out on pages 13 to 15 of this 

annual report. All Directors have sufficient experience to hold their positions to carry out their duties effectively and efficiently, and 

all of them have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. The four independent non-executive Directors are 

persons of high caliber with academic and professional qualifications in the fields of accounting, finance, law, worldwide trade affairs 

and business management. They bring a broad range of financial, regulatory and commercial experience and skills to the Board, 

which contribute to the effective strategic management of the Group.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed with a formal letter of appointment setting out the terms and 

conditions of their respective appointments. Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 

of the Company from 1 September 2009 and was re-elected at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2010. 

The appointment of Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert, shall continue thereafter from year to year until terminated by either party with one 

month’s notice in writing. Mr. Pang Kwong Wah was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company from 21 

June 2013 and was re-elected at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 May 2014. The appointment of Mr. Pang 

Kwong Wah shall continue thereafter from year to year until terminated by either party with one month’s notice in writing. Mr. Yen 

Yuen Ho, Tony was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company for a term of 3 years from 12 August 2016, 

and was re-elected at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2017. The appointment of Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony 

shall continue thereafter from year to year until terminated by either party with one month’s notice in writing. Mr. Lin Kam Sui was 

appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company for a term of 3 years from 1 June 2017, and was re-elected at 

the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7 June 2018. The appointment of Mr. Lin Kam Sui shall continue thereafter from 

year to year until terminated by either party with one month’s notice in writing.

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rule 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules during the year under 

review. The Board considers that the independent non-executive Directors can make independent judgements effectively and fulfill 

the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given a 

written confirmation to the Company confirming that he has met the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules regarding the 

guidelines for the assessment of the independence of Directors in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022.

In case of an independent non-executive Director who has served more than 9 years, his further appointment is subject to a separate 

resolution to be approved by shareholders. The circular for shareholders’ meeting accompanying that resolution will include the 

reasons why the Board believes he is still independent and should be re-elected.
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The Board schedules to hold at least four full board meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the year ended 31 

December 2022, four full board meetings were held and the attendance of the Directors is set out as follows:

Number of meetings attended 

during the year ended 31 December 2022

Board meetings AGM/EGM (note 1)   

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Yin Kee 4/4 2/2

Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric 4/4 2/2

Ms. Yeung Po Wah 4/4 2/2

Mr. So Kin Hung 4/4 2/2

Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy (note 3) 4/4 1/2

Non-executive Director

Mr. Fan, William Chung Yue (notes 2 and 3) 3/3 1/2

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Pang Kwong Wah (note 3) 4/4 1/2

Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert (note 3) 4/4 1/2

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony 4/4 2/2

Mr. Lin Kam Sui 4/4 2/2

Notes:

1. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the 2022 AGM was held on 2 June 2022 and an extraordinary general meeting was held on 20 October 2022.

2. Mr. Fan, William Chung Yue resigned as a non-executive Director of the Company on 29 October 2022 and was entitled to attend three board meetings 
only during the year ended 31 December 2022.

3. Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend general meeting. 
Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy, being an executive Director; Mr. Fan, William Chung Yue, being a non-executive Director; Mr. Pang Kwong Wah and Mr. Yau Ming Kim, 
Robert, being independent non-executive Directors, were unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 20 October 2022 
due to their other prior engagements.

Every Board member has a duty to act in good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company and its 

shareholders. Each Director is required to make disclosure of his/her interests or potential conflict of interests, if any, in any proposed 

transactions or issues discussed by the Directors at the Board and Board Committees’ meetings. Any Director shall not vote on any 

resolution of the Board and Board Committees approving any contract or arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she (or his/

her associates) is materially interested nor shall he/she be counted in the quorum present at the meeting.
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Apart from the above regular meetings of the year, the Board will meet on other occasions when a board-level decision on 

a particular matter is required. The Chairman of the Board also held a meeting with the non-executive Directors (including 

independent non-executive Directors) of the Company during the year without the executive Directors present. Directors shall have 

full access to information on the Group and are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary by the 

Directors. The company secretary shall prepare minutes and keep record of matters discussed and decisions resolved at all Board 

meetings, which will be available for inspection by Directors upon request.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its directors and officers for their liabilities arising out of 

corporate affairs. The insurance coverage is reviewed annually. During the year, no claim was made against the Directors and officers 

of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the 

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance functions such as developing 

and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on corporate governance, training and continuous professional development of 

directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, 

the compliance of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance 

report. The Board is also satisfied that all Directors have contributed sufficient time to the performance of their responsibilities as 

directors of the Company.

The Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary. At least 14 days notice of regular Board meetings is given to all 

Directors and they can include matters for discussion in the agenda as they think fit. The agenda together with Board papers are 

sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the date of every Board meeting in order to allow sufficient time for the Directors to review 

the documents. Minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to all Directors for their perusal and comments. Minutes are open for 

inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. The Board also ensures that it is supplied in a timely manner 

with the agenda and all necessary information in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge its duties. Every Board 

member has full access to the advice and services of the company secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and all 

applicable rules and regulations are followed and they are also entitled to have full access to Board papers and related materials so 

that they can make an informed decision and discharge their duties and responsibilities.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Upon appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive package covering the Group’s business 

and the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a director of a listed company to ensure that he/she is sufficiently 

aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements. The Directors are regularly 

briefed on the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the Company has been 

encouraging the Directors and senior executives to enroll in a wide range of professional development courses or seminars relating 

to the Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and corporate governance practices organised by professional bodies so that they can 

continuously update their relevant knowledge and skills. The company secretary also organises and arranges seminars on the latest 

development of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the Directors to assist them in discharging their duties.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has arranged to provide professional training to all Directors. All Directors 

had complied with the requirements set out in the Code Provision C.1.4 and their training records are as follows:

Type of training

Read materials

Attending 

seminars/ 

conferences   

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Yin Kee ✓ ✓

Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric ✓ ✓

Ms. Yeung Po Wah ✓ ✓

Mr. So Kin Hung ✓ ✓

Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy ✓ ✓

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Fan, William Chung Yue ✓ ✓

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Pang Kwong Wah ✓ ✓

Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert ✓ ✓

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony ✓ ✓

Mr. Lin Kam Sui ✓ ✓

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional development and are committed to participating in any 

suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time 

being (or, if the number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by 

rotation.

Ms. Yeung Po Wah, Mr. So Kin Hung, Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert and Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony had been re-appointed at the last Annual 

General Meeting held on 2 June 2022. Pursuant to Articles 86(3) and 87 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lam Yin Kee, Mr. 

Lam Chee Tai, Eric and Mr. Lin Kam Sui shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for 

re-election.

All Directors (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive Directors) are subject to election for appointment 

by shareholders at the annual general meeting at least once every three years. None of the Directors who are proposed for re-

election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the 

Company within three years without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The notice period for the termination of the service contracts with executive Directors by either party is not less than three months. 

The notice period for the termination of appointment of non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors by either 

party is not less than one month.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Company acknowledges that the diversification of the members of the Board has positive effects on enhancing the Group’s 

performance, and has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) with effect from 20 December 2018. The 

Company sees the diversification of the members of the Board as an important supporting factor for the Group to achieve its 

strategic goal and maintain sustainable growth. In deciding the composition of the Board, the Company will consider the Board 

diversity from various perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional 

qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience. All our Directors are appointed according to the principle 

of meritocracy while all candidates are being selected objectively, and the benefit of Board diversity will also be taken into full 

consideration. The Nomination Committee will review the diversity of the composition of the Board on a regular basis, and will 

monitor the implementation of this policy to ensure it has been effectively implemented.

The Group recognises the value of gender diversity to promote a diverse and inclusive working environment and welcomes 

increased female representation at all levels. The employee gender ratio between male and female of the Group as at 31 December 

2022 is approximately 61:39. As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 9 Directors, among whom two are female. However, 

the Group currently does not consider it appropriate to set any specific gender target for its workforce.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board’s composition from diversified perspectives, and monitors the implementation of the 

Board Diversity Policy annually to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee considered that the Group achieved the Board 

Diversity Policy during the year ended 31 December 2022.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company had set up a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) on 1 April 2012 with written terms of reference. 

The Nomination Committee has a minimum of five members, comprising a majority of independent non-executive Directors. The 

Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Lam Yin Kee (the Chairman of the Board) and other current members include Ms. Yeung Po 

Wah, Mr. Pang Kwong Wah, Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert and Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. The 

primary roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board at least 

once every year, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Group’s corporate strategy, 

identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and selecting individuals nominated for directorship (if 

necessary), assessing the independence of the independent non-executive directors and making recommendations to the Board 

on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief 

executive officer.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has held one meeting and among other matters, (i) reviewed the structure, size and 

diversity of the Board; (ii) assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and (iii) reviewed the Board 

Diversity Policy.

Name of committee member

Number of 

meeting attended  

Mr. Lam Yin Kee 1/1

Ms. Yeung Po Wah 1/1

Mr. Pang Kwong Wah 1/1

Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert 1/1

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony 1/1
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The Board adopted a nomination policy that the Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend candidate(s) for 

directorship(s) to the Board by giving due consideration to the criteria, including but not limited to Board diversity, qualifications, 

skills and experience, independence, reputation for integrity, willingness and ability to devote time and potential contributions that 

the individual(s) can bring to the Board before making a recommendation to the Board. The Nomination Committee may consult 

any source it deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors, advertising, 

recommendations from a third party agency firm, and may evaluate the suitability of the candidate(s) by interviews, background 

checks etc.

The nomination policy is reviewed periodically to ensure that it remains relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects both current 

regulatory requirements and good corporate governance practice. Pursuant to Article 86 of the Company’s Articles of Association, 

the Board is entitled to appoint any person as Director from time to time or at any time to fill a casual vacancy or add a new member 

to the Board.

During the year, no nomination of Directors was considered by the Nomination Committee.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) on 22 June 2005 with written terms of 

reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee has a minimum of five members, comprising a majority 

of independent non-executive Directors. The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Pang Kwong Wah and other current 

members include Mr. Lam Yin Kee, Ms. Yeung Po Wah, Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert and Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony. The Remuneration 

Committee schedules to meet at least once every year and the quorum necessary for meeting is two.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. The 

primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management 

remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

b) either:

(i) to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior 

management; or

(ii) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior 

management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss 

or termination of their office or appointment; 

c) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

d) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and 

objectives;

e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions 

elsewhere in the Group;
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f) to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of 

office or appointment to ensure it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

g) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that 

they are consistent with relevant contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

h) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration;

i) to advise shareholders of the Company on how to vote with respect to any service contracts of Directors that require 
shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules;

j) to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

k) to consider and implement other matters, as defined or assigned by the Board or otherwise required by the Listing Rules from 
time to time.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of 
executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee had held one meeting in 2022, and has discussed and reviewed the remuneration policy for all 
Directors and senior management of the Group; the bonus payment policy and the pay trend for salary adjustment.

Name of committee member

Number of 

meeting attended  

Mr. Lam Yin Kee 1/1

Ms. Yeung Po Wah 1/1

Mr. Pang Kwong Wah 1/1

Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert 1/1

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony 1/1

The emoluments payable to Directors will depend on their respective contractual terms under employment contracts. Details of the 
emoluments of Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of 
this annual report. The emoluments paid to the highest paid individuals, who were not directors of the Company, as set out in note 
10 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report during the year ended 31 December 2022 were within the following 
bands:

Number of 

individuals  

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1

The Company has adopted a share option scheme at the annual general meeting held on 7 June 2016, which serves as an incentive 
to attract, retain and motivate talented eligible staff, including Directors. Details of the share option scheme are set out in the Report 
of the Directors on pages 61 and 62 of this annual report.

The share option scheme has a term of 10 years and will be expired on 6 June 2026.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) on 22 June 2005 with written terms of reference in 
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee comprises members of independent non-executive Directors only.

Mr. Pang Kwong Wah has been the chairman of the Audit Committee since 20 June 2013, the other two current members are Mr. Yau 
Ming Kim, Robert and Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony. Mr. Pang Kwong Wah has appropriate professional qualifications as required under Rule 
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice every year and the quorum necessary for meeting is two. Two meetings were held during 

the year under review. Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are as follows:

Name of committee member

Number of 

meetings attended  

Mr. Pang Kwong Wah 2/2

Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert 2/2

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony 2/2

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. The primary 

duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Relationship with the Company’s independent auditor
(a) to be primarily responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of 

the independent auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the independent auditor, and any 

questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

(b) to review and monitor the independent auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process 

in accordance with applicable standard. The Audit Committee should discuss with the independent auditor the nature and 

scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

(c) to develop and implement policy on the engagement of the independent auditor to supply non-audit services. The Audit 

Committee shall ensure that the provision by the independent auditor of non-audit services does not impair the independent 

auditor’s independence or objectivity;

Review of financial information of the Company
(d) to monitor integrity of financial statements of the Company and the Company’s annual reports and accounts, interim reports 

and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgments contained therein, 

before submission to the Board;

(e) In regard to (d) above:

(i) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the Company’s Board, senior management and the person 

appointed as the Company’s qualified accountant. The Audit Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the 

Company’s independent auditor;
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(ii) the Audit Committee should consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in such 

reports and accounts and must give due consideration to any matters that have been raised by the Company’s qualified 

accountant, compliance officer or independent auditor; and

(iii) the Audit Committee should discuss problems and reservation arising from the financial statements, annual reports and 

accounts, interim reports and quarterly reports (if applicable) and any other matters the independent auditor may wish 

to discuss (in the absence of management of the Company where necessary);

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal control procedures
(f) to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal control systems, and its statement in relation 

thereto prior to endorsement by the Board;

(g) to discuss with the management the risk management and internal control systems and to ensure that management has 

discharged its duty to have an effective risk management and internal control system;

(h) to consider any major investigation findings on risk management and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on 

its own initiative and management’s response to these findings;

(i) where an internal audit function exists, to review the internal audit programme, to ensure co-ordination between the internal 

and independent auditor, and to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing 

within the Company, and to review and monitor its effectiveness;

(j) to review the Company and its subsidiaries’ financial and accounting policies and practices;

(k) to review the independent auditor’s management letter, any material queries raised by the independent auditor to 

management about accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s response;

(l) to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues raised in the independent auditor’s management letter;

(m) to review arrangements by which employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible 

improprieties in financial reporting, risk management and internal control or other matters. The Audit Committee should 

ensure that proper arrangements are in place for the fair and independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate 

follow-up action;

(n) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s relations with the independent auditor;

(o) to report to the Board on the matters set out in this term of reference; and

(p) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

The Audit Committee also ensures that the Directors have conducted an annual review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications 

and experience of staff for the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and training programmes and budget.

The Group’s interim results and annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, 

which was of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with applicable accounting standards and requirements and 

that adequate disclosures have been made.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee has met with the independent auditor with no executive Directors 

present.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
The Company had set up an executive committee (the “Executive Committee”) with written terms of reference effective from 12 

November 2012. The Executive Committee has a minimum of three members. Mr. Lam Yin Kee is the chairman of the Executive 

Committee and other current members included Ms. Yeung Po Wah and the company secretary. The primary roles and functions of 

the Executive Committee are to review, evaluate and make recommendations to the Board regarding any investment opportunities, 

payments or guarantees in excess of HK$20,000,000.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
The Group’s independent auditor for the year ended 31 December 2022 is Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“GT”). GT is 

responsible for auditing and forming an independent opinion on the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements.

The fees paid and payable by the Group to GT in respect of audit and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2022 are 

HK$2,050,000 and HK$275,000 respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements of each financial period, which give a true and 

fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. In preparing the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and have applied them consistently, 

adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) which 

are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial statements, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and 

reasonable, and have prepared the accounts on the going concern basis.

The Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements and the responsibilities of the independent auditor to the shareholders are 

set out on in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 72 and 73 of this annual report.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are 

not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the internal controls and risk management systems and reviewing their effectiveness. 

Such systems are designed to monitor the Group’s overall financial position and safeguard its assets, and manage rather than 

eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. They can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 

material misstatement or loss. The Company considers its internal controls and risk management systems effective and adequate.

The main features of the internal controls and risk management systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance structure, 

policies and procedures, as well as reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across business operations.
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The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the senior 

management of the Group (“Senior Management”). The Board determines the nature and extent of the risks that shall be taken in 

achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and has the overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and overall 

effectiveness of internal controls and risk management systems. The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts reviews of 

the effectiveness of such systems at least annually, covering all material controls including financial, operational and compliance 

controls. The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the internal controls and risk management systems and reviewing their 

effectiveness, and such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and 

can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group has formulated and adopted risk management policies for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks. At least 

on an annual basis, the Senior Management identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, 

and assesses and prioritises the identified risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then 

established for those risks considered to be significant.

The Group has not set up an internal audit department but has engaged an independent professional advisor to review the 

internal controls and risk management systems, as well as the internal audit functions of the Group. Deficiencies in the design 

and implementation of internal controls and risk management systems are identified and recommendations are proposed for 

improvement. Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a timely basis to ensure 

prompt remedial actions are taken.

The Audit Committee and the Board carry out an overview every six months on the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk 

management systems of the Group. The review covers all material controls, including financial, operational and risk controls. No 

material internal control and risk management aspects of any significant discrepancies were discovered during the review. Both the 

Audit Committee and the Board expressed satisfaction over the effectiveness and adequacy of both the internal control procedures 

and the risk management procedures for the year under review.

The Company has formulated a whistleblowing policy allowing the employees and other relevant third parties who deal with 

the Group to report on any suspected conduct compromising the Company’s interests. All reported matters will be investigated 

independently. All information received from a whistleblower and its identity will be kept confidential. The Board and the Audit 

Committee will regularly review the whistleblowing policy and mechanism to improve their effectiveness.

The Company adopted an anti-corruption policy that promotes and supports anti-corruption laws and regulations. It provides 

guidelines and the minimum standards of conduct, all applicable laws and regulations in relation to anti-corruption and anti-bribery. 

The Group does not tolerate any forms of corruption, fraud and all other behaviors that severely damage the business integrity and 

reputation of the Group.

In relation to inside information, the Company has adopted the following guidelines to handle and disseminate inside information:

1. Remind employees who are in possession of inside information to be fully conversant with their obligations to preserve the 

confidentiality;

2. Ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place when the Company enters into significant negotiations or dealings 

with third party(ies); and

3. Inside information is handled and communicated by designated persons.
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The Board and the Senior Management of the Company review the safety measures regularly to ensure that the Company’s inside 

information is properly handled and disseminated.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board may declare dividends after taking into account the Group’s operations, earnings, financial condition, cash requirements 

and availability and other factors as it may deem relevant at such time. Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of 

dividends will be subject to the Company’s constitutional documents and the applicable laws, including the approval of the 

Shareholders. Future declarations of dividends may or may not be reflected from the Company’s historical declarations of dividends 

and will be at the absolute discretion of the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that the activities of the 

Board are carried out efficiently and effectively. The company secretary assists the Chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers 

for meetings and disseminates such documents to the Directors and board committees in a timely manner. The company secretary 

also advises the Directors on their obligations in respect of disclosure of interests in securities, connected transactions and inside 

information and ensures that the standards and disclosures required by the Listing Rules are observed.

With respect to the secretarial function of the Group, the company secretary maintains formal minutes of the Board meetings and 

other Board committee meetings. During the year, Mr. Leung Fuk Cheung, the company secretary of the Company, has undertaken 

no less than 15 hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company has disclosed all necessary information to the shareholders in compliance with the Listing Rules and uses a number 

of formal communication channels to account to shareholders and investors for the Company. These include (i) the publication of 

interim and annual reports; (ii) the annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting providing a forum for shareholders 

of the Company to raise comments and exchange views with the Board; (iii) meetings are held with media and investors 

periodically; (iv) the Company replies to enquiries from shareholders timely; (v) the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong serves 

the shareholders regarding all share registration matters; and (vi) the Company will publish voluntary announcement to keep 

the shareholders and potential investors of the Company informed of the latest business development of the Company and its 

subsidiaries as and when necessary.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a good opportunity for communications between the Board and its shareholders. 

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting. Notice of the annual general meeting and related papers are 

sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the meeting and the said notice is also published on the Stock Exchange’s 

website and the Company’s website. The Chairman and Directors will answer questions on the Group’s business at the meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Putting forward proposals at general meetings
The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company are primary platform for communication between the 

Company and its shareholders. The Company shall provide shareholders with relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at 

a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The information provided shall be reasonably necessary 

to enable shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s).

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for shareholders to move 

new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general 

meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the below paragraph.
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As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the Company, please refer to the procedures posted on the Company’s 

website.

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by shareholders
Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, any one or more member(s) of the Company holding at the date of deposit 

of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of 

the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company by mail 

at Unit 408, 4/F, Citicorp Centre, 18 Whitfield Road, Hong Kong to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board 

for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit 

of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself 

(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of 

the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward enquiries to the Board
The Company has disclosed all necessary information to the shareholders in compliance with Listing Rules. Updated and key 

information of the Group is also available on the Company’s website at http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/alltronics/index.htm. The 

Company also replied the enquiries from shareholders timely. The Directors host the annual general meeting each year to meet the 

shareholders and answer their enquiries.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact details
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing through the company secretary whose 

contact details are as follows:

Unit 408, 4/F, Citicorp Centre, 18 Whitfield Road, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2977 5633

Email: roger.leung@alltronics.com.hk

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There are no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year.
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is pleased to present its annual report together with the audited consolidated financial 

statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS
The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides corporate management services to its group companies. The 

principal activities of the subsidiaries as set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements are primarily the manufacture 

and trading of electronic products, plastic moulds, plastic and other components for electronic products, the trading of biodiesel 

products and the provision of energy efficient gas stoves, and the provision of energy saving business solutions. There were no 

significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2022.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is set out in note 5 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Details of the activities during the year as required by Schedule 5 to the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including 

a review of the Group’s business, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators, 

a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of the future development in the Group’s 

business, are set out in the sections “Chairman’s Statement” on page 3 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 12 

of this annual report, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the reporting period can also be found in the 

abovementioned sections and the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The discussions on the Group’s compliance with 

the relevant laws and regulations are set out on page 59 of this annual report. An account of the Company’s relationship with its key 

stakeholders is included in the “Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers” and “Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and/

or Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” on pages 60 and 66 of this annual report respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
The Group has formulated some policies in accordance with international environmental standards and has adopted 

environmentally-friendly production by improving energy efficiency while reducing energy consumption and pollutant emissions. 

Production factories of the Group have passed the certification of ISO 9001 quality control system and ISO 14001 environmental 

management system.

Details of the environmental, social and governance of the Group are set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” 

on pages 16 to 44 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group recognises the importance of compliance with the requirements of relevant laws and regulations. During the year, as 

far as the Board and management are aware of, there was no material breach or non-compliance with any applicable laws and 

regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its 

immediate and long-term business goals. During the year, there were no material and significant disputes between the Group and 

its employees, customers and suppliers, except the disclosure in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 74 of this annual report.

During the year, the Company has declared and paid an interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share (as adjusted for the effects 

of the share consolidation completed on 24 October 2022), totalling HK$9,461,164. The Directors recommend the payment of a final 

dividend for the year of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share, amounting to HK$9,461,164. The final dividend is subject to approval by 

shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 2 June 2023. It is expected that the final dividend will be 

paid on or about 29 June 2023 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members on 12 June 2023.

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$228,000.

SHARES ISSUED DURING THE YEAR
At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 20 October 2022, the shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary 

resolution to consolidate two existing ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company into one consolidated share of HK$0.02 each. 

The share consolidation has become effective from 24 October 2022. Further details of the share consolidation are set out in the 

circular of the Company dated 30 September 2022.

Details of the other movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 27 

to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, share premium is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that 

immediately following the date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be made, the Company is able to pay its 

debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022, calculated 

according to the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to 

HK$310,298,000 (2021: HK$309,743,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such 

rights under the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 

shareholders.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years ended 31 December is set out 

on page 160 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31 

December 2022 and the Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
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SHARE OPTIONS
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed at the Annual General Meeting held on 7 June 

2016, a share option scheme (the “2016 Share Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted. The purpose of the 2016 Share Option 

Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected participants as incentive or rewards for their contributions or potential 

contributions to the Group.

For the purpose of the 2016 Share Option Scheme, participants include (i) any executive, non-executive or independent non-

executive Director of the Group; (ii) any employee (whether full time or part time) of the Group; and (iii) any supplier and/or sub-

contractor of the Group.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2016 Share Option 

Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10 per cent. (the “General Scheme 

Limit”) of the total number of shares on 7 June 2016, the date on which the 2016 Share Option Scheme was adopted.

The Company may seek approval of the shareholders in general meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit such that the total 

number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme 

and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company at the 

date of approval to refresh such limit.

Notwithstanding the above, the maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted 

and yet to be exercised under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 

30 per cent. of the total number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time. No option may be granted under the 2016 

Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company if this will result in the aforesaid 30 per cent. limit being 

exceeded.

Unless with the approval of the shareholders in general meeting, the maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon the 

exercise of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) under the 2016 Share Option 

Scheme and other share option schemes of the Company in any twelve–month period shall not exceed 1 per cent. of the shares in 

issue.

An option must be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2016 Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be 

determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee, which period may commence from the date of the offer for the grant of 

the option is made, but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the date on which the offer for the grant of the option is 

made, subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. The amount payable on acceptance of the grant of an option is HK$1.

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is neither any 

performance target that needs to be achieved by a grantee before an option can be exercised nor any minimum period for which an 

option must be held before it can be exercised.
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The subscription price in respect of each share issued under the 2016 Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the 

Directors but shall not be less than the highest of:

(i) the nominal value of a share;

(ii) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the 

date upon which the relevant option is accepted and deemed to be granted (the “Commencement Date”), which must be a 

business day;

(iii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five 

business days immediately preceding the Commencement Date.

The 2016 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from 7 June 2016, being the date on 

which the 2016 Share Option Scheme was adopted.

During the two years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. As at 

31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no outstanding share options issued under any share option scheme.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares of the Company available for issue under the 2016 Share Option Scheme was 

22,481,010, which represented approximately 4.8% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Yin Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric (Chief Executive)

Ms. Yeung Po Wah

Mr. So Kin Hung

Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Fan, William Chung Yue (resigned on 29 October 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Pang Kwong Wah

Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Lin Kam Sui

In accordance with Articles 86(3) and 87 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lam Yin Kee, Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric and Mr. Lin 

Kam Sui shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All retiring directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election 

at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of Mr. Lam Yin Kee and Ms. Yeung Po Wah has entered into a service contract with the Company. Particulars of these contracts, 

except as indicated, are in all material respects identical and are summarised as follows:

(i) each service contract is of an initial term of three years commencing on 15 July 2005 and shall continue thereafter until 

terminated in accordance with the terms of the contracts. Under the contract, either party may terminate the contract at any 

time by giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing;

(ii) the current monthly salary for each of Mr. Lam Yin Kee and Ms. Yeung Po Wah are HK$463,959 and HK$127,530 respectively, 

subject to discretionary bonus of not more than 10% of the Group’s profit in aggregate; and

(iii) the Group provides directors’ accommodation to Mr. Lam Yin Kee at a current monthly rental of HK$160,000.

Pursuant to the letter of appointment dated 12 June 2020 with the Company, Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy (“Ms. Lam”) was appointed for the 

period from 12 June 2020 until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company, at which she will be eligible 

for re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company. Ms. Lam, if so re-elected at the next annual general 

meeting by the shareholders of the Company, shall thereafter be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. 

The appointment may be terminated by either party with not less than three months’ notice in writing. The current monthly salary 

for Ms. Lam is HK$150,000.

There are no service contracts between the Company and Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric and Mr. So Kin Hung in relation to their roles as 

executive Directors of the Company. The current monthly salary for Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric and Mr. So Kin Hung are HK$200,000 and 

HK$119,448 respectively.

Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company from 1 September 2009. The 

appointment of Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert shall continue thereafter from year to year until terminated by either party with one 

month’s notice in writing. Mr. Pang Kwong Wah was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company from 21 

June 2013. The appointment of Mr. Pang Kwong Wah shall continue thereafter from year to year until terminated by either party with 

one month’s notice in writing. Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company 

from 12 August 2016. The appointment of Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony shall continue thereafter from year to year until terminated by 

either party with one month’s notice in writing. Mr. Lin Kam Sui was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the 

Company from 1 June 2017. The appointment of Mr. Lin Kam Sui shall continue thereafter from year to year until terminated by either 

party with one month’s notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into or has proposed to enter into any service contract with the Company 

or any member of the Group (other than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within one year without payment of 

compensation other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE 
SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business 

to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a Director of the Company or the 

Director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 

during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on pages 13 to 15 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE 
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of each Director and Chief Executive in the shares, underlying shares and 

debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as 

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or as notified to the Company 

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) 

contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company as at 31 December 2022

Number of shares held 

Personal 

interests

Family 

interests

Corporate 

interests Total

% of the 

issued share 

capital of the 

Company       

Mr. Lam Yin Kee Long positions 4,463,461 – 219,870,000 

(Note 1)

224,333,461 47.42

Ms. Yeung Po Wah Long positions – 224,333,461 – 224,333,461 47.42

Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric  

(Note 3)

Long positions 1,509,354 – – 1,509,354 0.32

Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy (Note 4) Long positions 3,494,986 289,310 – 3,784,296 0.80

Notes:

1. 219,870,000 shares are owned by Profit International Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is owned as to 
95% by Mr. Lam Yin Kee and 5% by Ms. Yeung Po Wah. Ms. Yeung Po Wah is an executive Director of the Company and the spouse of Mr. Lam Yin 
Kee.

2. Mr. Lam Yin Kee and Ms. Yeung Po Wah are directors and beneficial owners of Profit International Holdings Limited.

3. Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric is the son of Mr. Lam Yin Kee and Ms. Yeung Po Wah and the brother of Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy.

4. Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy is the daughter of Mr. Lam Yin Kee and Ms. Yeung Po Wah and the sister of Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric.
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(b) Share options of the Company as at 31 December 2022
None of the Directors and Chief Executive has held any share options as at 31 December 2022.

(c) Interests in an associated corporation, Profit International Holdings Limited (ordinary shares of US$1 
each) as at 31 December 2022

Number of shares held 

Personal 

interests

Family 

interests

Corporate 

interests Total

% of the 

issued share 

capital of the 

associated 

corporation       

Mr. Lam Yin Kee Long positions 950 – – 950 95.0

Ms. Yeung Po Wah Long positions 50 – – 50 5.0

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year, the Directors and Chief Executive (including their spouse and children under 18 

years of age) had any interest in, or had been granted, or exercised, any rights to subscribe for shares (or warrants or debentures, if 

applicable) of the Company, its specified undertakings and its associated corporations required to be disclosed pursuant to the SFO 

and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

Other than those interests and short positions disclosed above, the Directors and Chief Executive also hold shares of certain 

subsidiaries solely for the purpose of ensuring that the relevant subsidiary has more than one member.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that as at 31 December 

2022, the Company had been notified of the following substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions, being 5% or more of 

the Company’s issued share capital.

Name Nature of interest

Long position/ 

short position

Number of 

shares held

% of the issued 

share capital of 

the Company     

Profit International Holdings Limited Beneficially owned Long position 219,870,000 46.48

Ms. Liu Jing Beneficially owned Long position 47,754,800 10.09

Lijiang Investment Holdings Limited (Note 1) Beneficially owned Long position 46,795,818 9.89

Short position 46,795,818 9.89

Pure Virtue Enterprises Limited (“Pure Virtue”) 

(Note 1)

Interest of a controlled 

corporation

Long position 46,795,818 9.89

Short position 46,795,818 9.89

China Huarong Overseas Investment Holdings 

Co., Limited (“China Huarong Overseas”)  

(Note 1)

Interest of a controlled 

corporation

Long position 46,795,818 9.89

Short position 46,795,818 9.89

Huarong Huaqiao Asset Management Co., 

Limited (“Huarong Huaqiao”) (Note 1)

Interest of a controlled 

corporation

Long position 46,795,818 9.89

Short position 46,795,818 9.89

Huarong Zhiyuan Investment & Management 

Co., Limited (“Huarong Zhiyuan”) (Note 1)

Interest of a controlled 

corporation

Long position 46,795,818 9.89

Short position 46,795,818 9.89

China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. 

(“China Huarong”) (Note 1)

Interest of a controlled 

corporation

Long position 46,795,818 9.89

Short position 46,795,818 9.89

The Ministry of Finance of the People’s  

Republic of China (Note 1)

Interest of a controlled 

corporation

Long position 46,795,818 9.89

Short position 46,795,818 9.89

Note:

(1) 46,795,818 shares of the Company were beneficially owned by Lijiang Investment Holdings Limited which is wholly-owned by Pure Virtue. Pure Virtue 
is wholly-owned by China Huarong Overseas, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Huarong Huaqiao. Huarong Huaqiao is 91% owned by Huarong 
Zhiyuan, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Huarong. The Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China has approximately 27.76% 
interests in the share capital of China Huarong. Therefore, Pure Virtue, China Huarong Overseas, Huarong Huaqiao, Huarong Zhiyuan, China Huarong and 
The Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China are deemed to be interested in 46,795,818 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Directors and Chief Executive of the Company are aware of, as at 31 December 2022, 

there were no other person, other than the Directors or Chief Executive of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the 

shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company in accordance with the provisions of 

Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register 

referred to therein
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company 

were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
– the largest supplier 6.1%

– five largest suppliers combined 17.9%

Sales
– the largest customer 44.0%

– five largest customers combined 69.7%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the 

Company’s share capital) had any interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION
Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements also constituted connected 

transactions under the Listing Rules, and are required to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The 

following transaction between certain connected parties (as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group have been entered into for 

which relevant announcements, if necessary, had been made by the Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing 

Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
The Group has rented a quarter as directors’ accommodation from Profit Home Investments Limited (“Profit Home”) at a monthly 

rental of HK$160,000 for a period of two years from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2021. On 31 March 2021, the Group entered into 

a renewal tenancy agreement with Profit Home for a period of two years commencing from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2023, at 

a monthly rental of HK$160,000. Ms. Yeung Po Wah, Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric and Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy holds 60%, 20% and 20% of 

shareholding respectively and are directors of Profit Home. Ms. Yeung Po Wah is an executive Director of the Company and the 

spouse of Mr. Lam Yin Kee. Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric is an executive Director and the Chief Executive of the Company and the son of Mr. 

Lam Yin Kee and Ms. Yeung Po Wah. Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy is an executive Director of the Company and the daughter of Mr. Lam Yin 

Kee and Ms. Yeung Po Wah. Therefore, the lease for renting the quarter constitutes a continuing connected transaction of the Group 

under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

As each of the applicable percentage ratios calculated in relation to the above connected transaction is less than 5% and the total 

annual consideration payable is less than HK$3,000,000, the transaction qualifies as a de minimis transaction pursuant to Rule 

14A.76 (1) of the Listing Rules and is therefore exempt from the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval 

requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aforesaid continuing connected transaction has been reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors of the Company. 

The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that the aforesaid connected transaction was entered into (a) in the ordinary 

and usual course of business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than 

terms available to or from independent third parties; and (c) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing it on terms that 

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transaction in accordance with 

Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 

Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong 

Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The independent auditor has issued his unqualified 

letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transaction as disclosed above in accordance 

with paragraph 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the independent auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the 

Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board believes that corporate governance is essential to the success of the Group. The Group keeps abreast of the best practices 

in the corporate governance areas and strives to implement such practices as appropriate. None of the Directors of the Company is 

aware of any information that would reasonably indicate that the Company or any of its Directors is not or was not at any time during 

the year and up to the date of this report, in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing 

Rules. The Board will review and update the current practices regularly to ensure compliance with the latest practices in corporate 

governance so as to protect and maximise the interests of shareholders.

Further information is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 45 to 58 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) was established for reviewing the Group’s 

emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Group having regard to the 

Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market standard and practices. The Group’s emolument policy is 

designed to attract, retain and motivate talented individuals to contribute to the success of its business. The emolument policy of 

the employees of the Group is formulated and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications 

and competence. The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to the Directors and eligible employees, details 

of which are set out in the section headed “Share Options” above.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board may declare dividends after taking into account the Group’s operations, earnings, financial condition, cash requirements 

and availability and other factors as it may deem relevant at such time. Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of 

dividends will be subject to the Company’s constitutional documents and the applicable laws, including the approval of the 

Shareholders. Future declarations of dividends may or may not be reflected from the Company’s historical declarations of dividends 

and will be at the absolute discretion of the Board.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the Company’s Articles of Association provide that the Directors shall 

be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, 

damages and expenses which may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution 

of their duty in their offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which 

may attach to any Directors.

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance to 

cover potential legal actions against its Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that 

there is sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong 

Limited, Certified Public Accountants, who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual 

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Yin Kee

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF ALLTRONICS HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Alltronics Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, 

the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 159, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, 

and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 

of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 

as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Inventory provision

Refer to notes 2.12, 4.2 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter  

As at 31 December 2022, the inventories amounted to 

approximately HK$371,369,000 net of the provision for 

obsolete inventories of approximately HK$42,547,000.

The Group’s inventories were mainly finished electronic 

products, plastic moulds, plastic and other components 

for electronic products which might become obsolete 

because of rapid technological advancement. Management’s 

assessment on the provision for obsolete inventories is based 

on assumptions, including assumptions on the forecasted 

inventory usage and estimated selling prices.

We identified the inventory provision as a key audit matter 

due to the significance of inventories to the consolidated 

financial statements and the estimation of provision involved 

significant management judgement.

We performed the following audit procedures, among others, on 

the inventory provision:

• assessed the design effectiveness of the internal controls 

that the Group used to identify slow moving and obsolete 

inventories;

• evaluated management’s methodology and estimates used 

in inventory provision calculation;

• assessed the reasonableness of the inventory provision by 

comparing to historical write-downs, actual selling prices 

and costs to sale;

• performed recalculation, on a sample basis, of inventory 

provision on individual items;

• tested the ageing of inventories and discussed the long 

aging inventories with management to identify any slow-

moving, excess or obsolete items;

• observed the stocktaking process at the end of the year;

• performed subsequent sales review of inventories, on a 

sample basis.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information in the 2022 Annual 

Report of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 

there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 

regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 

with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our 

opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 

person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 

of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout 

the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)
• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation.

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 

Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 

of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 

our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 

we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, 

Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

30 March 2023

Kan Kai Ching

Practising Certificate No.: P07816
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2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Revenue 6 1,732,089 1,656,388

Cost of sales (1,403,508) (1,396,183)  

Gross profit 328,581 260,205

Distribution costs (20,623) (24,288)

Administrative expenses (95,184) (93,125)

Other operating expenses, net (15,287) (4,547)

Share of losses of associates (6,108) (27,029)

Loss on deemed disposal of partial interests in an associate 7 – (60)

Impairment losses on financial assets, net 7 (30,817) (4,867)

Finance income 7 1,850 2,133

Finance costs 8 (15,743) (13,107)  

Profit before tax 7 146,669 95,315

Income tax expense 11 (25,186) (28,173)  

Profit for the year 121,483 67,142  

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 112,053 69,347

Non-controlling interests 9,430 (2,205)  

121,483 67,142  

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO  

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (Restated)

Basic and diluted (HK cents) 13 23.69 14.66  
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2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Profit for the year 121,483 67,142  

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may be reclassified to  

subsequently profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (21,329) 13,383

Share of other comprehensive profit of an associate – 551  

Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that may be  

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods (21,329) 13,934  

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax (21,329) 13,934  

Total comprehensive income for the year 100,154 81,076  

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 91,061 83,834

Non-controlling interests 9,093 (2,758)  

100,154 81,076  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 185,433 203,025

Right-of-use assets 15(a) 58,958 86,277

Investments in associates 17 – 6,108

Goodwill 16 11,672 11,672

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 21 21,786 21,780

Deferred tax assets 26 15,506 14,245  

Total non-current assets 293,355 343,107  

Current assets

Inventories 18 371,369 452,679

Trade receivables 19 217,639 342,856

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 20 39,779 64,450

Tax recoverable 50 –

Pledged deposits 22 3,772 3,759

Restricted deposits 22 12,275 13,246

Cash and cash equivalents 22 289,877 138,422  

Total current assets 934,761 1,015,412  

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables 23 189,139 318,246

Other payables and accruals 24 111,713 131,887

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 25 232,163 265,619

Lease liabilities 15(b) 27,476 27,780

Tax payable 15,145 27,948  

Total current liabilities 575,636 771,480  

Net current assets 359,125 243,932  

Total assets less current liabilities 652,480 587,039  
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2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 15(b) 35,692 62,767

Deferred tax liabilities 26 7,757 5,934  

Total non-current liabilities 43,449 68,701  

Net assets 609,031 518,338  

EQUITY

Share capital 27 9,461 9,461

Reserves 28 579,625 498,025  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 589,086 507,486

Non-controlling interests 19,945 10,852  

Total equity 609,031 518,338  

Lam Yin Kee Yeung Po Wah

Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Capital 

reserve

Statutory 

reserve

Exchange 

reserve

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Retained 

profits Total

Non– 

controlling 

interests

Total 

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 27) (note 27)           

At 1 January 2021 9,461 277,388 5,799 27,027 6,659 42 125,659 452,035 13,610 465,645

2020 final dividend paid – – – – – – (18,922) (18,922) – (18,922)

2021 interim dividend paid (Note 12) – – – – – – (9,461) (9,461) – (9,461)

Release of reserve upon  

deregistration of a subsidiary – – – 120 – – (120) – – –

Transfer to statutory reserve – – – (616) – – 616 – – –          

Transactions with owners – – – (496) – – (27,887) (28,383) – (28,383)          

Profit for the year – – – – – – 69,347 69,347 (2,205) 67,142

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

for the year:

Exchange differences on translation of  

foreign operations – – – – 13,936 – – 13,936 (553) 13,383

Share of other comprehensive income of  

an associate – – – – 551 – – 551 – 551          

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 14,487 – 69,347 83,834 (2,758) 81,076          

At 31 December 2021 9,461 277,388* 5,799* 26,531* 21,146* 42* 167,119* 507,486 10,852 518,338          
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Capital 

reserve

Statutory 

reserve

Exchange 

reserve

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Retained 

profits Total

Non- 

controlling 

interests

Total 

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 27) (note 27)           

At 1 January 2022 9,461 277,388 5,799 26,531 21,146 42 167,119 507,486 10,852 518,338

2022 interim dividend paid (Note 12) – – – – – – (9,461) (9,461) – (9,461)

Transfer to statutory reserve – – – 2,433 – – (2,433) – – –          

Transactions with owners – – – 2,433 – – (11,894) (9,461) – (9,461)          

Profit for the year – – – – – – 112,053 112,053 9,430 121,483

Other comprehensive loss for the year:

Exchange differences on translation of  

foreign operations – – – – (20,992) – – (20,992) (337) (21,329)          

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – (20,992) – 112,053 91,061 9,093 100,154          

At 31 December 2022 9,461 277,388* 5,799* 28,964* 154* 42* 267,278* 589,086 19,945 609,031          

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$579,625,000 (2021: HK$498,025,000) in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.
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2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax: 146,669 95,315

Adjustment for:

Finance costs 8 15,743 13,107

Interest income (1,850) (2,133)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 19,758 20,528

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15.1(c) 28,075 26,528

Reversal of warranty (31,258) (848)

Share of losses of associates 6,108 27,029

Loss on deemed disposal of partial interests in an associate – 60

Change in fair value of financial assets at FVPTL (6) 3,151

Amortisation of prepayments – 1,484

Gain on disposal of an associate – (5)

Gain on early termination of right-of-use assets 15.1(c) – (14)

Impairment of trade receivables, net 18,270 2,012

Impairment of amounts due from associates 6,416 1,701

Impairment of other receivables, net 6,131 1,154

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 255 (383)

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 28,111 1,300  

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 242,422 189,986

Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 32,423 (104,608)

Decrease in trade receivables 102,585 3,086

Decrease in prepayments, other receivables and other assets 2,999 42,912

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and bills payables (119,525) 7,960

Increase/(Decrease) in other payables and accruals 14,258 (81,947)  

Cash generated from operations 275,162 57,389

Interest received 1,850 2,133

Interest paid (12,203) (8,811)

Tax paid (37,724) (35,977)  

Net cash flows from operating activities 227,085 14,734  
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2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (5,983) (8,436)

Decrease/(Increase) in loan receivables 5,987 (6,000)

Decrease/(Increase) in restricted deposit 628 (13,017)

Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 922 604

Purchases of financial asset at FVTPL – (18,910)  

Net cash flows from/(used in) in investing activities 1,554 (45,759)  

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from new bank loans and other borrowings 137,968 359,676

Repayments of bank loans and other borrowings (161,830) (331,744)

Decrease in trust receipt loans (167) (1,025)

Dividend paid (9,461) (28,383)

Principal portion of lease payments (27,741) (23,901)

Interest portion of lease liabilities (3,540) (4,296)

Decrease in pledged deposits 3,759 1,046  

Net cash flows used in financing activities (61,012) (28,627)  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 167,627 (59,652)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 132,926 189,045

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (7,375) 3,533  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 293,178 132,926  

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement  

of financial position (note) 22 293,649 138,422

Bank overdrafts 25 (471) (5,496)  

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of cash flows 293,178 132,926  

Note: The amount included pledged deposits amounted to HK$3,772,000 with original maturity of less than 3 months.



ALLTRONICS HOLDINGS LIMITED82

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Alltronics Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 24 July 2003 as an exempted 

company with limited liability under the Companies Law. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 15 July 2005.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) 

are the manufacture and trading of electronic products, plastic moulds, plastic and other components for electronic products, 

the trading of biodiesel products and the provision of energy efficient gas stoves, and the provision of energy saving business 

solutions. The address of the Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-

1111, Cayman Islands and its principle place of business is Unit 408, 4/F, Citicorp Centre, 18 Whitfield Road, Hong Kong.

The Group is controlled by Profit International Holdings Limited (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands), which owns 

46.48% of the Company’s issued shares as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 46.48%). In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s 

ultimate holding company is Profit International Holdings Limited and the ultimate controlling party is Mr. Lam Yin Kee.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Name

Place of incorporation/

registration and 

business operation

Issued/registered 

share capital

Percentage of equity 

attributable to the Company Principal activities

2022 2021      

Directly held

Alltronics Industries Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 100 100 Investment holding in  

Hong Kong

Alltronics Project Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares  

totalling HK$100

100 100 Investment holding and 

energy saving business  

in Hong Kong

Alltronics Resources Limited The British Virgin Islands 100 ordinary shares of  

US$1 each

100 100 Investment holding in  

Hong Kong

Alltronics (BVI) Limited The British Virgin Islands 100 ordinary shares of  

US$1 each

100 100 Investment holding in  

Hong Kong
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Name

Place of incorporation/

registration and 

business operation

Issued/registered 

share capital

Percentage of equity 

attributable to the Company Principal activities

2022 2021      

Indirectly held

Alltronics Energy Saving  

(Shenzhen) Limited*

PRC Registered capital of 

HK$60,000,000

100 100 Provision of energy saving 

business solutions to 

customers

Allcomm (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares  

totalling HK$2

100 100 Investment holding and 

trading of electronic 

products

Alltronics Tech. Mftg. Limited Hong Kong 500,000 ordinary shares 

totalling HK$500,000

100 100 Research and development, 

manufacture and trading 

of electronic products

Dynamic Progress International 

Limited

Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares 

totalling HK$10,000

51 51 Trading of biodiesel products 

and provision of energy 

efficient gas stoves

Shenzhen Allcomm Electronic  

Co. Ltd.*

PRC Registered capital of 

US$2,500,000

100 100 Manufacture of  

electronic products

Southchina Engineering and 

Manufacturing Limited

Hong Kong 1,000,000 ordinary shares 

totalling HK$1,000,000

51 51 Trading of plastic moulds, 

plastic and electronic 

accessories

WT Technology Development 

Company Limited

Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares 

totalling HK$10,000

100 100 Investment holding in  

Hong Kong

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
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Name

Place of incorporation/

registration and 

business operation

Issued/registered 

share capital

Percentage of equity 

attributable to the Company Principal activities

2022 2021      

南華匯盈科技發展(深圳) 

有限公司*

PRC Registered capital of 

HK$12,000,000

51 51 Manufacture of plastic 

moulds, plastic and 

electronic accessories

宜春華訊電子製品有限公司* PRC Registered capital of 

RMB20,000,000

100 100 Manufacture of transformers, 

solenoids and other 

components for electronic 

products in the PRC

* These companies are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results 

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the 

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2023.

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) 

and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and accounting 

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 

are summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. 

The adoption of new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, if any, are 

disclosed in note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain 

unlisted convertible bond and investments in life insurance plans which have been measured at fair value.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgment of current events 

and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment 

or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are 

disclosed in note 4.

2.2 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made 

up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, 

to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 

the entity When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity, only substantive rights relating to the entity 

(held by the Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from the date it 

gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group companies are 

eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are 

reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the Group’s perspective. Amounts 

reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the 

accounting policies adopted by the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, 

and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests which would 

result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of 

a financial liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either 

at fair value or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, separately 

from the equity attributable to owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are 

presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling 

interests and the owners of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 

transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling interests within consolidated equity to 

reflect the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the 

aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous 

carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. 

Where certain assets of the subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative 

gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously 

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Company had directly 

disposed of the related assets (i.e., reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained profits). The fair value of 

any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial 

recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” or, when applicable, the cost on initial 

recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the 

subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising 

from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the 

reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised in the 

Company’s profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and business are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred 

is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by 

the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the 

Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited 

exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 

interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity in the acquiree (if any) over the 

net of the acquisition–date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, 

the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum 

of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value on 

the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as 

bargain purchase gain.

2.4 Investments in associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, which is the power to participate in the financial 

and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

In consolidated financial statements, an investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost and subsequently 

accounted for using the equity method. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair 

value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition 

is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for 

impairment as part of the investment. The cost of acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date 

of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group, plus any costs 

directly attributable to the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit 

or loss in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is 

acquired.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Investments in associates (Continued)

Under the equity method, the Group’s interest in the associate is carried at cost and adjusted for the post-acquisition 

changes in the Group’s share of the associate’s net assets less any identified impairment loss, unless it is classified as 

held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale). The profit or loss for the year includes the 

Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the associate for the year, including any impairment loss on the 

investment in associate recognised for the year. The Group’s other comprehensive income for the year includes its share 

of the associate’s other comprehensive income for the year.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 

interest in the associates. Where unrealised losses on assets sales between the Group and its associate are reversed on 

equity accounting, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the Group’s perspective. Where the associate 

uses accounting policies other than those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, 

adjustments are made, where necessary, to conform the associate’s accounting policies to those of the Group when the 

associate’s financial statements are used by the Group in applying the equity method.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group does not 

recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the 

associate. For this purpose, the Group’s interest in the associate is the carrying amount of the investment under the 

equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment 

in the associate.

After the application of equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional 

impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether 

there is any objective evidence that the investment in associate is impaired. If such indications are identified, the Group 

calculates the amount of impairment as being the difference between the recoverable amount (i.e. higher of value 

in use and fair value less costs of disposal) of the associate and its carrying amount. In determining the value in use 

of the investment, the Group estimates its share of the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to 

be generated by the associate, including cash flows arising from the operations of the associate and the proceeds on 

ultimate disposal of the investment.

The Group discontinues the use of equity method from the date when it ceases to have significant influence over 

an associate. If the retained interest in that former asssociate is a financial asset, the retained interest is measured at 

fair value, which is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKFRS 9. The 

difference between (i) the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the 

associate; and (ii) the carrying amount of the investment at the date the equity method was discontinued, is recognised 

in the profit or loss. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would have been required if the associate had directly 

disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income by the investee would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the entity 

reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is 

discontinued.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses, 

unless classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.5 Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (HK$), which is the Company’s functional 

currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Each consolidated entities in the Group determines its own functional currency. In the individual financial statements 

of the consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the individual 

entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at that 

date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the reporting date 

retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 

prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 

cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange rates at the transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial statements of foreign operations, originally presented in 

a currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been converted into Hong Kong dollars. Assets and 

liabilities have been translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses 

have been converted into the Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the 

average rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences 

arising from this procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the 

exchange reserve in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation have been treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign operation and translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rates.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal 

involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of significant influence over an associate 

that includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation attributable 

to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed to non-

controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e., no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the 

proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not 

recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal of associates not involving a change of 

accounting basis), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated 

into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of 

overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average 

exchange rates for the year.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at acquisition cost, manufacturing cost (including any cost 

directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating 

in the manner intended by the Group’s management). They are subsequently stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual value over their estimated useful lives, 

using straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 2%-20% or over the lease terms, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements 16.67%-20% or over the lease terms, whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 9%-20%

Motor vehicles 9%-20%

Office equipment 8%-20%

Furniture and fixtures 9%-20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on 

a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Estimates of residual values, useful lives and 

the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

2.7 Goodwill
Set out below are the accounting policies on goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary. Accounting for goodwill 

arising on acquisition of investment in an associate is set out in note 2.4.

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition 

date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount 

of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in 

the acquiree (if any) over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities 

measured as at the acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum 

of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the 

acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as 

a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is 

tested annually for impairment (see note 2.20).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination 

of the amount of gain or loss on disposal.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.8 Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 

instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when 

the financial asset and substantially all of its risks and rewards are transferred.

Classification and initial measurement

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the 

transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in case of a 

financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the following 

categories:

– amortised cost;

– FVTPL; or

– FVOCI.

The classification is determined by both the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset and the contractual 

cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance 

costs, finance income, except for expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade receivables and other receivables which are 

presented as impairment losses on financial assets in profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 

require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as 

FVTPL):

– they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual 

cash flows; and

– the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest income 

from these financial assets is included in finance income in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect 

of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, restricted deposits, pledged 

deposits and other receivables and other assets fall into this category of financial instruments.

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and 

sell’ are categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets whose contractual cash flows 

are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall 

into this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting 

requirements under HKFRS 9 apply.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for trading purposes 

and on initial recognition of the investment, the Group elects to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such 

that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in “Fair value 

reserve of financial asset at FVOCI” in equity. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but only be 

made if the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.

The equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss in “Fair value 

reserve of financial asset at FVOCI” will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the equity investments, and 

will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to 

receive the dividends is established, dividends are included in the other operating income in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 

instrument.

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 

terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition 

of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts 

is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Classification and initial measurement

The Group’s financial liabilities include interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, leases liabilities, trade and bills 

payables and other payables.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for 

transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method except for derivatives which are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships and financial 

liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or 

loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss are 

included within finance costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in note 2.15.

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 

effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs 

incurred. They are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 

and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of these financial liabilities using the effective 

interest method.

Other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an 

unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets

The Group use forward-looking information to recognise an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) – the “ECL 

model”. Instruments within the scope included debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and trade 

receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past 

events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future 

cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

– financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or that have 

low credit risk (“Stage 1”) and

– financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose 

credit risk is not low (“Stage 2”).

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1 category while “lifetime ECL” are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the 

financial instrument.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based 

on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the 

potential for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the Group has established 

a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-

looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days 

past due. Trade receivables with object evidence of impairments at the reporting date will be individually assessed for 

measurement of lifetime ECL.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether 

lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood of risk of default occurring since 

initial recognition.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost (Continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of 

a default occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring on the financial assets 

at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative 

information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is 

available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 

significantly:

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit 

rating;

– significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, 

the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

– existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory, business, financial, economic conditions, or technological 

environment that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; 

and

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly 

since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable 

and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since 

initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A 

debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the borrower has strong capacity to 

meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in economic and business conditions 

in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow 

obligations. The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 1 year past due. However, 

in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information 

indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account 

any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 

recovering the contractual cash flows.

2.11 Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 

financial position if, and only if, there is currently an enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there 

is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis 

and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate 

proportion of overheads. It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 

course of business less the estimated cost of completion and applicable selling expenses.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and short term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash 

and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash 

flows presentation, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an 

integral part of the Group’s cash management.

2.14 Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer 

before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group 

performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the customer).

A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the 

Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

2.15 Leases
Definition of a lease and Group as a lessee

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains a lease 

if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time 

in exchange for consideration. To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key 

evaluations which are whether:

• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified 

by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group;

• the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset 

throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract; and

• the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess 

whether it has the right to direct “how and for what purpose” the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group 

allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of their relative stand-

alone prices.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases 

of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing 

the right to use the underlying assets.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.15 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the underlying 

asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any 

impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes 

the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to 

dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of the lease, and lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line 

basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years

Land and buildings 2 to 5 years

If the Group is reasonably certain to obtain the ownership of the leased asset by the end of the lease term or the 

cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the 

asset. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use assets are presented under non-current assets.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments 

to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-

use assets.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease payments 

unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 

determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”).

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives 

receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be paid under 

residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably 

certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects 

the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or 

a rate are recognised as an expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment 

occurs.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the amount of lease liabilities are increased for interest cost on the lease 

liabilities and reduced for the lease payments made.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.15 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

• there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the 

related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate 

at the date of reassessment.

• the lease payments changes due to changes in market rental rates, in which cases the related lease liability 

is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and 

loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and 

equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option). 

It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop 

computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-

line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases 

as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 

underlying asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to 

each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis 

over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or loss due to its operating 

nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of 

the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.16 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and 

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the 

amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present 

value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. The increase in 

the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated 

reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is 

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 

more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

2.17 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is recognised at the amount of consideration of shares issued, 

after deducting any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit) to the 

extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue arises mainly from the sales electronics products and maintenance services income.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. Identifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based on 

their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf 

of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by 

transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which 

the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration 

is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in 

the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable 

consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing 

the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of 

the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction 

between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing component which 

provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract 

includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract 

where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year 

or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical 

expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other operating income recognition policies are as follows:

(a) Sale of electronic products

Revenue from the sale of electronic products is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is 

transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the industrial products.

Some contracts for the sale of electronic products provide customers with volume rebates. The volume rebates 

give rise to variable consideration.

Sales-related warranties associated with electrostatic sprayers cannot be purchased separately and are served 

as an assurance that the products sold comply with agreed-upon specifications (i.e. assurance-type warranties). 

Accordingly, the Group accounts for warranties in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 

and Contingent Assets”.

(b) Rental income

Accounting policies for rental income are set out in note 2.15.

(c) Maintenance service income

Maintenance service income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the terms of the maintenance contracts.

Other operating income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly 

discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when 

appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established, it is probable 

that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be 

measured reliably.

2.19 Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 

and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as 

income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under “Other operating income, net” in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment testing:

• Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary;

• Property, plant and equipment;

• Right-of-use assets; and

• The Company’s investments in subsidiaries and associates

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life or those not yet available for use are tested for 

impairment at least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that they are impaired. All other assets are 

tested for impairment whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 

exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs 

of disposal, and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time value of money and the risk specific 

to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises 

in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of 

those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generate cash 

inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment 

and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated to individual cash-generating units, 

when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 

group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. Goodwill 

in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related 

business combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 

management purpose and not be larger than an operating segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially 

to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash 

generating unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of 

disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An assessment is made at the end of the reporting period as to whether there is any indication that previously 

recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 

amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there 

has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount 

higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such and impairment loss is credited to profit 

or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This 

is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the 

end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

2.21 Employee retirement benefits
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension 

scheme (the “Central Pension Scheme”) operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to 

contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension 

scheme.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) 

under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate in the 

MPF Scheme in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are 

charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF 

Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered 

fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as employees render services during the year. The Group’s 

obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage contributions payable.

The Group’s contributions to the Central Pension Scheme and MPF Schemes vested fully and immediately with the 

employees and there was no forfeiture of contributions.

2.22 Income tax
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the 

current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated according to the tax rates 

and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to 

current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised 

for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, 

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary differences, will be available 

against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from initial recognition (other 

than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit 

or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 

associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that 

the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled 

or the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly 

in equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 

the average tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable income of the periods in which the temporary differences 

are expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires an estimation of (i) when the existing temporary differences will 

reverse and (ii) the amount of future taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future taxable profit includes:

• income or loss excluding reversals of temporary differences; and

• reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if, and only if,

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 

on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or 

to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant 

amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment information based on the report reviewed by the 

executive directors (“Directors”) of the Company for their strategic decisions and review of the performance of those 

components.

The business components in the internal financial information reported to the Directors are determined following the 

business components’ operations and their products and services provided.

The Group considers the business from both a geographic and product perspective. From a product perspective, 

management assesses the performance of:

(a) the electronic products segment - the manufacture and trading of electronic products, plastic moulds, plastic and 

other components for electronic products;

(b) the biodiesel products segment - the trading of biodiesel products and provision of energy efficient gas stoves in 

Hong Kong; and

(c) the energy saving business segment - the provision of energy saving business solutions to customers.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of the product and service lines requires different 

resources as well as marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.

The measurement policies the Group used for reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are the 

same as those used in its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs, except that the following items are not included 

in arriving at the operating results of the operating segment:

• share of profit or loss of associates accounted for using the equity method;

• loss on deemed disposal of partial interests in an associate;

• finance costs (other than interest on lease liabilities);

• finance income;

• income tax expense; and

• corporate income and expenses which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating 

segment.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.24 Related parties

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statement, a party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and if that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity or an associate or joint venture of a member 

of a group of which the other entity is a member;

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 

related to the Group and the sponsoring employees are also related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to 

the Group or to the parent of the Group.

2.25 Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed 

final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles 

of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are 

recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs
Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2022
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which 

are relevant to the Group’s operations and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual period 

beginning on 1 January 2022:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards 2018-2020

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised) Merger Accounting for Common Control Combination

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material impact on how the results and financial position for the current and 

prior periods have been prepared and presented.

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs have been 

published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related amendments1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and  

its Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and  

related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 52

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies1

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transactions1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
3 Effective date not yet determined

The Directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period 

beginning on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. These new and amended HKFRSs are not expected to have a 

material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the 

disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 

require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

4.1 Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from 

those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated 

financial statements:

Property lease classification - Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has 

determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not 

constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property and the present value of the minimum lease 

payments not amounting to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially all 

the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased out and accounts for the 

contracts as operating leases.

Income taxes

Significant judgements on the future tax treatment of certain transactions are required in determining income 

tax provisions. The Company carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are recorded 

accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in tax 

legislation.

Determination of the discount rate in lease contracts

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an IBR to measure lease 

liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a 

similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 

environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no 

observable rates are available such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions or when it needs 

to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s 

functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available 

and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that 

it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management 

judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely 

timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. Further details are contained in 

note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
4.2 Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis in accordance with the accounting 
policy stated in note 2.20. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the 
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash 
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value 
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2022 was HK$11,672,000 (2021: HK$11,672,000). 
Further details are given in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Provision for ECL on trade receivables and other receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and other receivables. The provision rates are 
based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, 
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the 
matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic 
conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased 
number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the 
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is 
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. 
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of 
a customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and other 
receivables is disclosed in note 19 and note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Provision for inventories
The Group makes provision for inventories based on consideration of obsolescence of raw materials and the net 
realisable value of finished goods. The identification of inventory obsolescence and estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business require the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the 
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision in the year in which such 
estimate is changed. Further details are given in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment
In determining the useful life and residual value of an item of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider 
various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or improvements in production, 
or from a change in the market demand for the product or service output of the asset, expected usage of the asset, 
expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the 
asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are 
used in a similar way. Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of items of 
property, plant and equipment are different from the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed 
at each financial year end based on changes in circumstances. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment 
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were HK$185,433,000 and HK$203,025,000, respectively. Further details are given in note 
14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
4.2 Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-

use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators 

that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-

generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value 

in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in 

an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. 

When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the 

asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash 

flows.

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services and has three 

reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the electronic products segment - the manufacture and trading of electronic products, plastic moulds, plastic and other 

components for electronic products;

(b) the biodiesel products segment - the trading of biodiesel products and provision of energy efficient gas stoves in Hong 

Kong; and

(c) the energy saving business segment - the provision of energy saving business solutions to customers.

Management assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of operating profit/loss (before 

interest and tax and unallocated operating costs).

All sales between segments are eliminated on consolidation. All segment revenue reported is derived from external parties.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, prepayments and deposits and financial assets at FVTPL as these assets are 

managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other payables and accruals as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Electronic 
products

Biodiesel 
products

Energy saving 
business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Year ended 31 December 2022
Segment revenue (note 6)

Sales to external customers 1,731,784 305 – 1,732,089
Revenue from services – – – –    

Total revenue 1,731,784 305 – 1,732,089    

Segment results
Operating profit/(loss) before interest and tax 177,220 (124) (1,419) 175,677

Share of losses of associates (6,108) – – (6,108)
Finance costs (other than interests on lease liabilities) (12,203) – – (12,203)
Finance income 1,802 – 48 1,850
Income tax expense (25,186) – – (25,186)    

135,525 (124) (1,371) 134,030

Unallocated operating costs (12,547) 

Profit for the year 121,483 

Segment assets 1,179,777 824 23,492 1,204,093
Unallocated:

Cash and cash equivalents 506
Prepayments and deposits 1,731
Financial assets at FVTPL 21,786 

Total assets 1,228,116 

Segment liabilities
Unallocated: 610,816 278 213 611,307

Other payables and accruals 7,778 

Total liabilities 619,085 

Other segment information:
Depreciation and amortisation (47,561) – (272) (47,833)
Additions to non-current assets* 12,014 – – 12,014
Provision of Impairment of

– trade receivables, net (18,270) – – (18,270)
– amounts due from associates (6,416) – – (6,416)
– other receivables, net (6,131) – – (6,131)

Write down of inventories to net realisable value (28,111) – – (28,111)
Reversal of warranty 31,258 – – 31,258    

* Additions to non-current assets consists of additions of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Electronic 
products

Biodiesel 
products

Energy saving 
business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Year ended 31 December 2021
Segment revenue (note 6)

Sales to external customers 1,654,180 477 1,091 1,655,748
Revenue from services – – 640 640    

Total revenue 1,654,180 477 1,731 1,656,388    

Segment results
Operating profit/(loss) before interest and tax 138,012 (292) (3,771) 133,949

Share of losses of associates (27,029) – – (27,029)
Loss on deemed disposal of partial interests  

in an associate (60) – – (60)
Finance costs (other than interests on lease liabilities) (8,811) – – (8,811)
Finance income 2,078 – 55 2,133
Income tax expense (28,173) – – (28,173)    

76,017 (292) (3,716) 72,009

Unallocated operating costs (4,867) 

Profit for the year 67,142 

Segment assets 1,310,077 900 24,192 1,335,169
Unallocated:

Cash and cash equivalents 224
Prepayments and deposits 1,346
Financial assets at FVTPL 21,780    

Total assets 1,358,519 

Segment liabilities 831,992 268 240 832,500
Unallocated:

Other payables and accruals 7,681 

Total liabilities 840,181 

Other segment information:
Investments in associates 6,108 – – 6,108
Depreciation and amortisation (46,999) – (1,541) (48,540)
Additions to non-current assets* 24,947 – – 24,947
Loss on deemed disposal of partial interests  

in an associate (60) – – (60)
Provision of Impairment of

– trade receivables, net (2,012) – – (2,012)
– amounts due from associates (1,701) – – (1,701)
– other receivables, net (1,154) – – (1,154)

Write down of inventories to net realisable value (1,300) – – (1,300)
Reversal of warranty 848 – – 848    

* Additions to non-current assets consists of additions of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
5.1 Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

The United States 1,295,174 1,226,183

Hong Kong 191,321 128,641

Europe 84,849 100,745

PRC 154,956 189,451

Other overseas countries 5,789 11,368  

1,732,089 1,656,388  

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Hong Kong 174,470 191,089

PRC 81,593 115,993  

256,063 307,082  

The non-current assets information above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax assets 

and financial assets at FVTPL.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
5.2 Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenues from customers which individually contributed over 10% of the 

Group’s revenue is as follow:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Customer A 761,452 608,346

Customer B (note) 138,936 173,560  

Note: The Group had transactions with these customers but the amount of the transactions was less than 10% of the Group’s revenue for 2022.

These revenues were attributable to the electronic products segment.

6. REVENUE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information from contract with customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Segments

Electronic 

products

Biodiesel 

products

Energy saving 

business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Type of goods or services

Sales of industrial products 1,731,784 305 – 1,732,089    

Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,731,784 305 – 1,732,089    

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time 1,731,784 305 – 1,732,089    

Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,731,784 305 – 1,732,089    
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6. REVENUE (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information from contract with customers (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Segments

Electronic 

products

Biodiesel 

products

Energy saving 

business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Type of goods or services

Sales of industrial products 1,654,180 477 1,091 1,655,748

Maintenance services – – 640 640    

Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,654,180 477 1,731 1,656,388    

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time 1,654,180 477 1,091 1,655,748

Services transferred over time – – 640 640    

Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,654,180 477 1,731 1,656,388    

(ii) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the industrial products and payment is generally due within 30 

to 90 days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally required. Some contracts 

provide customers with volume rebates which give rise to variable consideration subject to constraint.

Maintenance services

Maintenance service income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the terms of the maintenance contracts.
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit before tax from is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Cost of inventories sold and services provided 1,045,497 996,360

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 28,111 1,300

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 19,758 20,528

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15.1(c) 28,075 26,528

Amortisation of prepayments – 1,484

Auditors’ remuneration

– Audit services 2,050 1,890

– Non-audit services 275 257

Reversal of warranty 24(c) (31,258) (848)

Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 6 3,151

Lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities 15.1(c) 158 195

Provision of Impairment of:

– trade receivables, net 19 18,270 2,012

– amount due from associates 20 6,416 1,701

– other receivables, net 20 6,131 1,154

Loss on deemed disposal of partial interests in an associate (note (i)) – 60

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 255 (383)

Foreign exchange differences, net (4,459) 12,813

Interest income from bank deposits (699) (801)

Interest income from associates (701) (367)

Interest income from loan receivables – (515)

Interest income from a convertible bonds (450) (450)

Rental income 15.2 (898) (898)

Government grants (note ii) (2,912) (8,267)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration 9 18,442 17,612

Compensations to suppliers (note iii) 28,813 –

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ and chief executive’s 

remuneration (note 9)):

Wages and salaries 220,089 224,515

Pension scheme contributions 10,725 4,824

Staff welfare and allowances 7,091 6,419  

237,905 235,758  
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Loss on deemed disposal of partial interests in an associate has been recorded as HK$60,000 due to the new investment in P2 Mobile 
Technologies Limited from other investors in 2021.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received funding support of HK$1,488,000 (2021: Nil) from the Employment Support 
Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government. The purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to 
enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to make 
redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees. During the year ended 31 December 
2022, the Group received unconditional subsidies of HK$1,424,000 (2021: HK$8,267,000) from PRC local government authorities.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group signed settlement agreements with suppliers, whereas the parties compromised that the 
Group would make settlement payments to the suppliers in exchange for the termination of corresponding purchase orders made by the Group. 
The suppliers would have no obligation to fulfil the corresponding purchase orders by delivering any components to the Group. The agreed total 
sum of settlement compensations was HK$28,813,000, which was included in other operating expenses, net in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022.

8. FINANCE COSTS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and other loans 12,203 8,811

Interest on lease liabilities 3,540 4,296  

Total finance costs 15,743 13,107  

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and 

(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) 

Regulation, is as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Fees 1,595 1,650  

Other emoluments

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 15,872 15,872

Discretionary bonuses 900 –

Pension scheme contributions 75 90  

16,847 15,962  

18,442 17,612  
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (Continued)
9.1 Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Mr. Yau Ming Kim, Robert 330 330

Mr. Pang Kwong Wah 330 330

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony 330 330

Mr. Lin Kam Sui 330 330  

1,320 1,320  

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year (2021: Nil).

9.2 Executive directors and non-executive directors

Fees

Salaries, 

allowances 

and benefits 

in kind

Discretionary 

bonuses2

Estimated 

money 

value of 

other 

benefits1

Employer’s 

contribution 

to a 

retirement 

benefit 

scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000       

2022

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Yin Kee (Note i) – 6,191 900 1,920 18 9,029

Ms. Yeung Po Wah – 1,658 – – 18 1,676

Mr. So Kin Hung – 1,553 – – 3 1,556

Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric (Note ii) – 2,600 – – 18 2,618

Ms. Lam Oi Yan Ivy – 1,950 – – 18 1,968      

– 13,952 900 1,920 75 16,847      

Non-executive director:

Mr. Fan, William Chung Yue (Note iii) 275 – – – – 275      

275 13,952 900 1,920 75 17,122      
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (Continued)
9.2 Executive directors and non-executive directors (Continued)

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses2

Estimated 
money 

value of 
other 

benefits1

Employer’s 
contribution 

to a 
retirement 

benefit 
scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000       

2021
Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Yin Kee (Note i) – 6,191 – 1,920 18 8,129
Ms. Yeung Po Wah – 1,658 – – 18 1,676
Mr. So Kin Hung – 1,553 – – 18 1,571
Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric (Note ii) – 2,600 – – 18 2,618
Ms. Lam Oi Yan Ivy – 1,950 – – 18 1,968      

– 13,952 – 1,920 90 15,962      

Non-executive director:
Mr. Fan, William Chung Yue (Note iii) 330 – – – – 330      

330 13,952 – 1,920 90 16,292      

1 Other benefits represent rental paid by the Group for the quarters of the directors.

2 Discretionary bonuses are determined by the remuneration committee and the Board of the Company having regard to the Company’s 
and individual directors’ performance.

Notes:

(i) Mr. Lam Yin Kee is an executive director and the Chairman of the Group.

(ii) Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric is the chief executive officer of the Group.

(iii) Mr. Fan, William Chung Yue, resigned as a non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 29 October 2022.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 

compensation for loss of office during the year (2021: nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees in the Group during the year included 2 directors (2021: 3), details of whose remuneration are 

set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining 3 (2021: two) highest paid employees who 

are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company during the year are as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 8,194 3,868

Performance related bonuses 585 –

Pension scheme contributions 54 36  

8,833 3,904  

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following 

bands is as follows:

2022 2021   

Emolument bands:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 – 1

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 – 1

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2 –

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 –  

3 2  
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11. INCOME TAX
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members 

of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in 

Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax 

rates regime. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of 

qualifying entity is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong profits 

tax for this subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2021.

Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law and the respective regulations, the subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are subject to 

Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) at a rate of 25% (2021: 25%) on the taxable income.

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Current – PRC 11,994 9,312

Current – Hong Kong 12,006 16,101

Under/(Overprovision) in prior years 648 (822)

Deferred tax (note 26) 538 3,582  

Total tax charge for the year 25,186 28,173  

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the 

Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of 

the applicable rates to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 % HK$’000 %     

Profit before tax 146,669 95,315  

Tax at the statutory tax rates 24,200 16.5 15,727 16.5

Effect of different taxation rates in other countries 942 0.7 2,852 3.1

Income not subject to tax (3,768) (2.6) (490) (0.5)

Expenses not deductible for tax 1,248 0.9 6,098 6.4

Share of loss of associates 1,009 0.7 4,460 4.7

Under/(Overprovision) in prior years 648 0.4 (822) (0.9)

Tax losses not recognised 1,294 0.9 806 0.8

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (222) (0.2) (293) (0.3)

Others (165) (0.1) (165) (0.2)    

Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate 25,186 17.2 28,173 29.6    
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12. DIVIDEND
Dividends attributable to the year:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Interim dividend of HK2.0 cents* per ordinary share (2021: HK2.0 cents*) 9,461 9,461

Proposed final dividend of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share (2021: HKNil cent) 9,461 –  

18,922 9,461  

* The respective dividend per ordinary share has been adjusted for the effects of the share consolidation completed on 24 October 2022. Details of 
the share consolidation are set out in the circular dated 30 September 2022 issued by the Company.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual 

general meeting (2021: Nil).

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The calculations of basic earnings per share are based on:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Earnings

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company,  

used in the basic earnings per share calculation: 112,053 69,347  

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company 112,053 69,347  

Number of shares

2022 2021

(Restated)   

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year  

used in the basic earnings per share calculation 473,058,180 473,058,180  

Diluted earnings per share was the same as basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as the 

Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in existence during the years.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share have 

been adjusted for the effects of share consolidation completed on 24 October 2022 (note 27) on the basis that every two 

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company would be consolidated into one ordinary share of HK$0.02 

each as if the consolidation had occurred at 1 January 2021, the beginning of the earliest period reported. Details of the share 

consolidation are set out in the circular dated 30 September 2022 issued by the Company.



123

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings

Furniture 

and fixtures

Office 

equipment

Plant and 

machinery

Leasehold 

improvements

Motor 

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000        

31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022:

Cost 200,618 9,024 27,411 73,463 71,826 18,182 400,524

Accumulated depreciation (41,005) (6,210) (17,981) (54,294) (63,431) (14,578) (197,499)       

Net carrying amount 159,613 2,814 9,430 19,169 8,395 3,604 203,025       

At 1 January 2022,  

net of accumulated depreciation 159,613 2,814 9,430 19,169 8,395 3,604 203,025

Additions – 544 2,698 2,082 251 408 5,983

Disposals – (60) (61) (1,014) – (42) (1,177)

Depreciation (note 7) (6,368) (915) (2,620) (4,814) (3,786) (1,255) (19,758)

Exchange realignment – (202) (696) (1,225) (418) (99) (2,640)       

At 31 December 2022,  

net of accumulated depreciation 153,245 2,181 8,751 14,198 4,442 2,616 185,433       

At 31 December 2022:

Cost 200,618 8,694 27,918 68,604 68,075 17,767 391,676

Accumulated depreciation (47,373) (6,513) (19,167) (54,406) (63,633) (15,151) (206,243)       

Net carrying amount 153,245 2,181 8,751 14,198 4,442 2,616 185,433       
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Buildings

Furniture 

and fixtures

Office 

equipment

Plant and 

machinery

Leasehold 

improvements

Motor 

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000        

31 December 2021

At 1 January 2021:

Cost 200,618 8,631 25,478 70,521 69,110 16,363 390,721

Accumulated depreciation (34,637) (5,911) (15,282) (49,444) (58,652) (12,772) (176,698)       

Net carrying amount 165,981 2,720 10,196 21,077 10,458 3,591 214,023       

At 1 January 2021,  

net of accumulated depreciation 165,981 2,720 10,196 21,077 10,458 3,591 214,023

Additions – 1,063 1,834 1,917 1,908 1,714 8,436

Disposals – (53) (14) (80) – (74) (221)

Depreciation (note 7) (6,368) (1,015) (2,878) (4,354) (4,234) (1,679) (20,528)

Exchange realignment – 99 292 609 263 52 1,315       

At 31 December 2021,  

net of accumulated depreciation 159,613 2,814 9,430 19,169 8,395 3,604 203,025       

At 31 December 2021:

Cost 200,618 9,024 27,411 73,463 71,826 18,182 400,524

Accumulated depreciation (41,005) (6,210) (17,981) (54,294) (63,431) (14,578) (197,499)       

Net carrying amount 159,613 2,814 9,430 19,169 8,395 3,604 203,025       

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s leasehold property with a carrying amount of HK$153,245,000 (2021: HK$159,613,000) and 

plant and machinery with a carrying amount of HK$8,397,000 (2021: HK$11,137,000) were pledged as security for the Group’s 

bank loans, as further detailed in note 25(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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15. LEASES
15.1 The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various offices, warehouses, quarters, land, motor vehicles and other equipment used 

in its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods 

of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of land and buildings 

generally have lease terms between 2 to 5 years. Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/

or is individually of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside 

the Group. The Group considered that no extension option or termination option would be exercised at the lease 

commencement date.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as follows:

Prepaid 

land lease 

payments Land Buildings

Motor 

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

As at 1 January 2021 1,470 291 92,214 – 93,975

Additions – – 16,511 – 16,511

Disposal – – (178) – (178)

Depreciation charge (50) (61) (26,417) – (26,528)

Exchange realignment – 8 2,489 – 2,497     

As at 31 December 2021 and  

1 January 2022 1,420 238 84,619 – 86,277

Additions – – 6,031 – 6,031

Depreciation charge (50) (59) (27,966) – (28,075)

Exchange realignment – (18) (5,257) – (5,275)     

As at 31 December 2022 1,370 161 57,427 – 58,958     

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s leased land with a carrying amount of HK$1,370,000 (2021: HK$1,420,000) 

was pledged as security for the Group’s bank loans, as further detailed in note 25(b) to the consolidated financial 

statements.
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15. LEASES (Continued)
15.1 The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Total minimum lease payments:

Due within 1 year 29,892 31,383

Due within 1 to 2 year 27,076 27,870

Due within 2 to 5 year 9,916 38,654  

66,884 97,907

Future finance charges on lease liabilities (3,716) (7,360)  

Present value of lease liabilities 63,168 90,547  

Present value of minimum lease payments

Due within 1 year 27,476 27,780

Due within 1 to 2 year 26,038 25,501

Due within 2 to 5 year 9,654 37,266  

63,168 90,547

Less: Portion due within one year included under current liabilities (27,476) (27,780)  

Portion due after one year included under non-current liabilities 35,692 62,767  

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 32.4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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15. LEASES (Continued)
15.1 The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Interest on lease liabilities 3,540 4,296

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 28,075 26,528

Expense relating to short-term leases 62 119

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets  

(included in cost of sales and administrative expenses) 96 76

Gain on early termination of leases (included in other operating expense) – (14)  

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 31,773 31,005  

15.2 The Group as a lessor
The Group leases its buildings (note 14) in Hong Kong under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases 

generally require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the 

then prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was HK$898,000 (2021: 

HK$898,000), details of which are included in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under non-

cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within one year 898 898

After one year but within two years 148 898

After two years but within three years – 148  

1,046 1,944  
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16. GOODWILL

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000   

At 1 January:
Cost 19,931 19,931
Accumulated impairment (8,259) (8,259)  

Net carrying amount 11,672 11,672  

Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated impairment 11,672 11,672
Impairment during the year – –  

Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 11,672 11,672  

At 31 December:
Cost 19,931 19,931
Accumulated impairment (8,259) (8,259)  

Net carrying amount 11,672 11,672  

Impairment testing of goodwill
The net carrying amount of goodwill relates to the excess of consideration paid and the fair value of net assets acquired from 
the acquisition of one subsidiary, namely Southchina Engineering and Manufacturing Limited (“Southchina”). The Group tests 
annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2.20 to the 
consolidated financial statements. Management considers Southchina as one separate industrial products cash-generating 
unit (the “CGU”). The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on a value-in-use calculation. This calculation 
uses pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets of Southchina, approved by management covering a five-year 
period.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the CGU for 31 December 2022 and 2021. The following describes 
each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

(a) Budgeted turnover, operating expenses and finance costs were projected with reference to the expected earnings from 
the manufacture and trading of plastic moulds and plastic and electronic accessories for Southchina.

(b) For the business environment, there will be no change in the existing political, legal, regulatory, fiscal or economic 
conditions, bases or rates of taxation or duties in Hong Kong, or any other countries in which Southchina operates.

(c) Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectations for the market 
development. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the business.

The values assigned to the assumptions on market development of the CGU, discount rates and purchase price inflation are 
consistent with external information sources. The pre-tax discount rate of 11.3% (2021: 11.5%), being the key assumption used 
in the model, has been applied to the cash flow projections for Southchina to reflect specific risks relating to the CGU.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably possible change in the other assumptions on which the recoverable 
amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Share of net assets – 6,108  

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

Name

Particulars of 

issued shares held/

registered capital 

contributed

Place of 

registration and 

business

Percentage 

of ownership 

interest 

attributable to 

the Group Principal activities     

Yichun Yilian Print Tech Co., Ltd. 

(“Yichun Yilian”) (note (i))

Contributed 

RMB14,700,000 as 

registered capital

PRC 40.40% 

(2021: 40.40%)

Manufacture of printers 

and accessory products 

and provision of 

printing service

P2 Mobile Technologies Limited 

(“P2MT”) (note (ii))

5,778 ordinary shares Hong Kong 16.35% 

(2021: 16.87%)

Wireless communication 

products and software 

development

Iotronics Wireless Limited 

(“Iotronics”) (note (ii))

100 ordinary shares Hong Kong 28.57% 

(2021: 28.57%)

Wireless communication 

products and software 

development

* All associates have a reporting date of 31 December.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Note:

(i) Yichun Yilian

Yichun Yilian is a private limited liability company established on 7 November 2014. It is registered in Mainland China and is a technology 
company focusing on research, development and manufacture of intelligent laser printers.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of Yichun Yilian adjusted for any differences in accounting policies 
and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements.

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Current assets 39,166 134,306
Non-current assets 37,734 5,935
Current liabilities (138,412) (127,237)  

Net (liabilities)/assets (61,512) 13,004  

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 40.40% 40.40%

Carrying amount of the investment – 5,253  

Revenue 7,476 947
Loss for the year (26,209) (65,977)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income (295) 1,363
Total comprehensive loss for the year (26,504) (64,614)  

(ii) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group’s associates that are not individually material:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Share of the associates’ loss for the year (855) (373)
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive loss (855) (373)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investments in the associates – 855  
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18. INVENTORIES

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Raw materials 269,545 311,472

Work in progress 61,045 64,024

Finished goods 83,326 92,485  

413,916 467,981

Provision against slow-moving and obsolete inventories (42,547) (15,302)  

371,369 452,679  

As at 31 December 2022, no inventories are stated at fair value less cost to sales (2021: HK$4,906,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group reversed HK$866,000 (2021: HK$4,108,000) of inventories write down 

made in prior years as the Group has sold the inventories at above cost.

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade receivables 244,515 364,541

Less: ECL allowance (26,876) (21,685)  

217,639 342,856  

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The credit period is generally 30 to 90 days. The Group’s 

other trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers. The Group does not hold any collateral or other 

credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the year, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within 1 month 116,530 174,552

1 to 2 months 53,339 107,204

2 to 3 months 27,308 30,317

Over 3 months 20,462 30,783  

217,639 342,856  
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The movements in the ECL allowance of trade receivables are as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

At beginning of year (21,685) (19,673)

ECL allowance recognised during the year (note 7) (18,270) (2,012)

Amount written off as uncollectible 13,079 –  

At end of year (26,876) (21,685)  

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 

The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns 

(i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms of 

credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and 

supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 

economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to 

enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

Ageing   

Less than 1 year 1 to 2 Years Over 3 years Total     

As at 31 December 2022

Expected credit loss rate 3.35% 100% 100% 10.99%

Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 225,180 13,805 5,530 244,515

Expected credit losses (HK$’000) 7,541 13,805 5,530 26,876

Ageing   

Less than 1 year 1 to 2 Years Over 3 years Total     

As at 31 December 2021

Expected credit loss rate 0.87% 100% 100% 5.95%

Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 345,872 4,296 14,373 364,541

Expected credit losses (HK$’000) 3,016 4,296 14,373 21,685

As at 31 December 2022, one debtor is individually assessed for lifetime ECL.

As at 31 December 2021, no debtor is individually assessed for lifetime ECL.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivable are set out in note 32.3.
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20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Prepayments 20,491 29,773
Deposits and other receivables (Note (i)) 19,804 30,007
Loans to/amount due from associates (Note (ii)) 15,852 8,584
Due from non-controlling shareholders of a subsidiary 491 691
Receivable relating to the consideration for the disposal of Bonroy Limited 113,298 122,704
Other receivable due from a related party, the Purchaser of the Bonroy Group 6,063 6,566
Other receivables due from the former subsidiary group, Bonroy Group 240,251 260,196  

416,250 458,521
Impairment of other receivables (376,471) (394,071)  

Current portion 39,779 64,450  

Note:

(i) As at 31 December 2021, the balance included a loan of HK$9,779,000 net of the impairment HK$2,484,000 granted to a related party of Yichun 
Yilian which bears interest at 4.35% per annum and is repayable within one year. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the interest income 
generated from the loan was HK$515,000.

(ii) A loan of HK$5,383,000 net of the impairment of HK$2,543,000 granted to a subsidiary of Yichun Yilian (2021: a related party of Yichun Yilian) 
was reclassified from other receivables to loans to associates as at 31 December 2022. It bears interest at 4.35% per annum and is repayable 
within one year. During the year, the interest income generated from the loan was HK$524,000 (2021:HK$515,000). A loan of HK$Nil net of the 
impairment HK$7,926,000 (2021: HK$6,853,000 net of the impairment HK$1,731,000) granted to Yichun Yilian bears interest at 4.35% per annum 
and is repayable within one year. During the year, the interest income generated from the loan was HK$177,000 (2021: HK$367,000).

Prepayment mainly comprises of prepaid raw material costs to suppliers and pre-paid value added tax.

As at 31 December 2022, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets were in Stage 1, 2 and 
3 (2021: Stage 1 and 3), and a provision for impairment of HK$376,471,000 (2021: HK$394,071,000) was provided. Details of 
impairment assessment of financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets are set out in note 32.3.

The carrying amounts of the remaining other receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to other debtors for 
whom there was no recent history of default.
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20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (Continued)
The movements in the ECL allowance of other receivables are as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Balance at 1 January 2021 (1,677) - (388,730) (390,407)

ECL allowance recognised during the year (2,855) - - (2,855)

Amount written-off - - 11,520 11,520

Exchange differences (73) - (12,256) (12,329)    

Balance at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 (4,605) - (389,466) (394,071)

ECL allowance recognised during the year - (131) (12,416) (12,547)

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 2,484 (2,484) - -

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 1,731 - (1,731) -

Exchange differences - 72 30,075 30,147    

Balance at 31 December 2022 (390) (2,543) (373,538) (376,471)    
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Investments in life insurance plans (note a) 16,122 15,607

Unlisted convertible bond (note b) 5,664 6,173  

21,786 21,780  

Note a:

The Company entered into life insurance plans with an insurance company for life insurance protection of certain Directors and senior management of 
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021. The total premium paid for these plans is approximately US$2,424,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$18,910,000). The Company is the policy holder and the beneficiary of these insurance policies. The Company can terminate these policies at any 
time and will receive a cash sum based on the cash value (the “Cash Value”) of these policies at the date of termination. The Cash Value is determined by 
premium paid plus accumulated interest earned minus the surrender charges and exit value adjustments.

Note b:

On 31 December 2020, the Company subscribed for a convertible bond with a principal of HK$6,427,000 (equivalent to US$824,000) with annual coupon 
of 7%, issued by P2MT, the associate of the Company (the “Convertible Bond”). The Convertible Bond would mature on 31 December 2022.

The Convertible Bond would, at the discretion of the Company, be convertible at any time between the date of issue to the maturity date on 31 December 
2022 into fully paid ordinary shares of P2MT. The entire Convertible Bond plus accrued but unpaid interest can be converted into ordinary share of P2MT 
at the following conversion prices:

(a) US$800 per ordinary share from the date of issuance until 31 December 2021

(b) US$1,000 per ordinary share from the 1 January 2022 until 31 December 2022

(c) US$1,200 per ordinary share during the extended period

If the Convertible Bond has not been converted, it will be redeemed on maturity date at par plus all accrued interest. If the Company does not redeem 
the Convertible Bond on the maturity date, the maturity date will be automatically extended by a period of 12 months.

On 31 December 2022, the Company did not redeem the Convertible Bond. Its maturity date was automatically extended to 31 December 2023.

The fair value measurement of the Convertible Bond is described in note 31.
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Cash and bank balances 289,877 138,422

Time deposits 3,772 3,759

Restricted deposits 12,275 13,246  

305,924 155,427

Less: Pledged time deposits for bank and other borrowings (note 25 (b)) – (3,759)

Less: Restricted deposits under court freezing order (note a) (12,275) (13,246)  

Cash and cash equivalents 293,649 138,422  

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in

– Renminbi (“RMB”) 82,898 85,066

– United States dollars (“US$”) 194,605 29,209

– HK$ 16,082 23,999

– Other currencies 64 148  

Cash and cash equivalents 293,649 138,422  

Note:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2021, Shenzhen Allcomm Electronic Co. Ltd (“Shenzhen Allcomm”), a subsidiary of the Group, received 
a court order to freeze a deposit balance of Shenzhen Allcomm at a bank amounted to RMB10,802,000 (equivalent to HK$13,246,000 as at 31 
December 2021 and HK$12,275,000 as at 31 December 2022). As at 31 December 2022, the court order was still being executed by the bank. 
Details of the court order are disclosed in note 34(b).

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under PRC Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 

Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for 

other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

As at 31 December 2022, all of the short term time deposits are made for a period less than 3 months and included in cash and 

cash equivalents.
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS (Continued)
As at 31 December 2021, short term time deposits are made for varying periods of 3 to 6 months depending on the immediate 

cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective time deposit rates.

The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s time deposits denominated in HK$ of approximately HK$2,750,000 (as at 31 December 

2021: HK$2,737,000) and time deposits denominated in US$ of approximately HK$1,022,000 (as at 31 December 2021: 

HK$1,022,000) were pledged with banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 25(b)).

23. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of the year, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within 1 month 82,791 143,238

1 to 2 months 72,801 125,070

2 to 3 months 24,310 37,762

Over 3 months 9,237 12,176  

189,139 318,246  

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 30 to 90 days.

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Receipt in advance 150 150

Contract liabilities (a) 28,426 15,160

Other payables (b) 21,682 19,125

Salary and welfare payables 41,499 41,580

Provision of warranty (c) – 33,346

Accruals 19,956 22,526  

111,713 131,887  
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)
Notes:

(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

31 December 
2022

31 December 
2021

HK$ HK$   

Short-term advances received from customers
Sale of goods 28,426 15,160  

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received (original expected duration of less than one year) to deliver industrial products.

The group’s unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) performance obligation represented deliver industrial products or maintenance services which 
are billed based on time incurred. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

All amounts outstanding at the beginning of the year have been recognised during the year.

(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are repayable within one year.

(c) Warranty provision represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s obligation under eighteen months’ warranty period granted to a 
customer, based on prior experience and industry averages for defective products. The movements of warranty provision as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000   

At 1 January 33,346 53,554
Reversal for the year (Note 7) (31,258) (848)
Utilisation of provision (2,088) (19,360)  

At 31 December 2022 – 33,346  

The reversal of warranty amounted to HK$31,258,000 (2021: HK$848,000) was included in cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2022.

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Effective interest rate 

(%) Maturity HK$’000

Effective Interest rate 

(%) Maturity HK$’000       

Current

Bank overdraft – secured 1 over prime rate 

& 3 over HIBOR

On demand 471 1.5% minus prime rate 

& 2.35 over HIBOR

On demand 5,496

Trust receipt loans – secured 0.5 per annum 

over Prime rate

On demand 851 0.5 per annum 

over Prime rate

On demand 1,018

Bank loans – secured 1.75 over HIBOR 

– 4.3% – 4.35%

On demand 92,611 1.75 over HIBOR 

– 5.10%

On demand 114,187

Bank loans – unsecured 1.8 – 2.5 over HIBOR On demand 138,230 1.8 – 2.5 over HIBOR On demand 144,918  

232,163 265,619  
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
(a) The Group’s bank overdrafts, trust receipt loans and bank loans were due for repayment as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Analysed into:

Bank and other loans repayable:

Within one year 191,647 219,449

In the second year 5,654 11,307

In the third to fifth years 34,862 34,863  

232,163 265,619  

The amounts due set out above are based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements without 

considering any repayment on demand clause.

Some of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain financial ratios, as are 

commonly found in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group was to breach the covenants, the 

drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand. In addition, certain of the Group’s bank loan arrangements 

contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole discretion to demand immediate repayment at any time 

irrespective of whether the Group has complied with the covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

The total amount of HK$40,516,000 (2021: HK$46,170,000) as at year end 31 December 2022 have been reclassified to 

current portion due to the repayment on demand clause.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments of 

the bank loans and does not consider it probable that the respective banks will exercise their discretion to demand 

repayment for so long as the Group continues to meet these requirements. During the year ended 31 December 2022, 

none (2021: nil) of the lenders had exercised their rights to demand immediate repayment of the drawn down facilities, 

either at their sole discretion or due to any breach of covenants.

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Bank and other loans repayable denominated in:

HK$ 175,207 148,388

RMB 46,007 61,292

US$ 10,949 55,939  

232,163 265,619  
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
(b) The bank and other borrowings were secured by the following:

(i) the pledge of the Group’s fixed deposits denominated in HK$ of approximately HK$2,750,000 (as at 31 December 

2021: HK$2,737,000) and bank deposits denominated in US$ of approximately HK$1,022,000 (as at 31 December 

2021: HK$1,022,000);

(ii) the Group’s leasehold property of HK$153,245,000 (as at 31 December 2021: HK$159,613,000);

(iii) the Group’s right-of-use assets in Shenzhen of HK$1,370,000 (as at 31 December 2021: HK$1,420,000);

(iv) the Group’s plant and machinery of HK$8,397,000 (as at 31 December 2021: HK$11,137,000); and

(v) the banking facilities granted to a subsidiary, Southchina, were also secured by personal guarantees given by its 

non-controlling shareholders.

(c) As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total available banking facilities amounted to approximately HK$528,056,000 

(as at 31 December 2021: HK$590,774,000), of which approximately HK$235,077,000 (as at 31 December 2021: 

HK$358,518,000) was unutilised.

26. DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Related 

depreciation 

in excess of 

depreciation 

allowance Provision

Loss available 

for offsetting 

against future 

taxable profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Gross deferred tax assets at 1 January 2021 1,402 14,205 880 16,487

Deferred tax (debited)/credited to profit or 

loss during the year (note 11) 11 (2,383) – (2,372)

Exchange differences – 101 29 130    

Gross deferred tax assets at  

31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 1,413 11,923 909 14,245

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during 

the year (note 11) 19 1,267 – 1,286

Exchange differences – 21 (46) (25)    

Gross deferred tax assets at  

31 December 2022 1,432 13,211 863 15,506    
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26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation

allowance in

excess of 

related

depreciation

HK$’000  

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 1 January 2021 4,724

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year (note 11) 1,210 

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 5,934

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year (note 11) 1,823 

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2022 7,757 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Tax losses 341,748 342,533  

The above tax losses are available for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits 

will be available against which the above items can be utilised. Except for the estimated tax losses of HK$23,525,000 (2021: 

HK$25,316,000) expiring within five years, the remaining tax losses have no expiry.

PRC withholding income tax of 10% shall be levied on the dividends declared by the companies established in the PRC to their 

foreign investors out of their profits earned after 1 January 2008. A lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when the 

immediate holding companies of the PRC subsidiaries are incorporated or operated in Hong Kong and fulfil the requirements 

to the tax treaty arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong.

At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted 

earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion of 

the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate 

amount of deferred tax liabilities associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities 

have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$32,407,000 at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$30,836,000).
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Authorised:

5,000,000,000 (2021:10,000,000,000) ordinary shares 100,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid:

473,058,180 (2021: 946,116,360) ordinary shares 9,461 9,461  

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

Number of 

shares in issue Share capital

Share premium 

account Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 946,116,360 9,461 277,388 286,849

Share consolidation* (473,058,180) – – –    

At 31 December 2022 473,058,180 9,461 277,388 286,849    

* With effect from 24 October 2022, every two (2) issued shares of the Company of par value of HK$0.01 each was consolidated into one (1) 
consolidated share of the Company (the “Share Consolidation”) of par value of HK$0.02 each. Further details of the Share Consolidation are set out 
in circular of the Company dated 30 September 2022, announcement of the Company dated 20 October 2022 and supplemental announcement 
of the Company dated 26 October 2022. The ordinary shares of the Company has a par value of HK$0.02 each (2021: HK$0.01 each).

28. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented in the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 78 to 79 of the consolidated financial statements.

Statutory Reserve
In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises are required 

to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the relevant PRC accounting standards, to their 

respective statutory surplus reserves until the reserves reach 50% of their respective registered capital. Subject to certain 

restrictions set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory surplus reserve may be converted to increase share 

capital, provided that the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital.
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following 

material transactions with related parties during the year:

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Expenses paid to an associate, Yichun Yilian (i) 787 698

Interest income from associates:

P2MT 450 450

Yichun Yilian and its subsidiary 20(ii) 701 367  

As at 31 December 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000    

Convertible bond

P2MT 21 5,664 6,173

Loans to/Amounts due from associates:

Yichun Yilian and its subsidiary 20(ii) 15,852 8,584  

21,516 14,757

Less: Provision for impairment

Yichun Yilian and its subsidiary 20(ii) (10,469) (1,731)  

Total 11,047 13,026  

(i) During the year, the expenses such as rental payment and utilities paid to Yichun Yilian by宜春華訊電子製品有限公司were HK$787,000 
(2021: HK$698,000).
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Fees 1,595 1,650

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 32,409 22,730

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 192 216  

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 34,196 24,596  

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 9 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

(c) Ms. Yeung Po Wah, Ms. Lam Oi Yan, Ivy and Mr. Lam Chee Tai, Eric are executive directors of the Company, and have 60%, 

20% and 20% equity interests in Profit Home Investments Limited, respectively. The rental was determined according 

to the negotiation with the counterparties. This related party transaction also constitutes a continuing connected 

transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Group has a rental contract with Profit Home Investments Limited. At the reporting date, the Group had total lease 

liabilities with Profit Home Investments Limited under non-cancellable leases falling due as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Lease liabilities – current 478 1,886

Lease liabilities – non-current – 478  

478 2,364  

Under the rental contract, the minimum lease payment during the year was HK$1,920,000 (2021: HK$1,920,000). As at 

31 December 2022, the Group’s right-of-use assets relating to such rental contract amounted to HK$462,000 (2021: 

HK$2,338,000).
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the year are as follows:

Financial assets

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Financial assets at FVTPL:

Investments in life insurance plans 16,122 15,607

Unlisted convertible bond 5,664 6,173

Measured at amortised cost:

Trade receivables 217,639 342,856

Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets 19,288 34,677

Cash and cash equivalents 293,649 138,422

Pledged time deposits – 3,759

Restricted deposits 12,275 13,246  

564,637 554,740  

Financial liabilities

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Measured at amortised cost:

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 232,163 265,619

Trade and bills payables 189,139 318,246

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 9,174 7,479

Lease liabilities 63,168 90,547  

493,644 681,891  



ALLTRONICS HOLDINGS LIMITED146

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction 

to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of 

a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market 

must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 

participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 

interest.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in 

a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 

measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer is responsible for determining the policies and 

procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department reports directly to the chairman of 

the Company. At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments 

and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit 

committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorised 

within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the observability and significance of the lowest level input to the 

fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is observable, either directly or indirectly and not using significant unobservable inputs.

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the 

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that 

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values

2022 2021 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Financial assets

Investments in life insurance plans 16,122 15,607 16,122 15,607

Unlisted convertible bond 5,664 6,173 5,664 6,173    

21,786 21,780 21,786 21,780    

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing bank loans and  

other borrowings 232,163 265,619 232,163 265,619    

232,163 265,619 232,163 265,619    

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, restricted deposit, trade 

and other receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, trade and bills payables, 

financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, and current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 

approximate to their respective carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future 

cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities and are 

categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk 

for interest bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were assessed to be insignificant.

For the financial asset at FVTPL, the management has engaged an external valuer, Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited, to 

carry out valuations on the fair value of the unlisted convertible bond. The fair value were determined by using a black-scholes 

partial differential equation model.
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31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Market-based approach was used in determining the equity value of P2MT as input in the black-scholes partial differential 

equation model. The other significant unobservable inputs into the model were as follows:

2022 2021

Significant unobservable input % % Sensitivity of fair value to the input

Unlisted convertible bond Volatility 72.34 98.02 Increase in volatility would result in increase in 

fair value of the convertible bond.

The fair value of the unlisted convertible bond depends on a number of factors that are determined using a number of 

assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of the unlisted convertible bond. Expected 

volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of selected companies operated in similar industry.

The fair value of the investments in life insurance plans is determined by reference to the cash surrender value statements at 

the reporting date as provided by the insurance company.

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

As at 31 December 2022 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Financial assets at FVTPL

Investments in life insurance plans – 16,122 – 16,122

Unlisted convertible bond (note) – – 5,664 5,664    

– 16,122 5,664 21,786    

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing bank loans and  

other borrowings – 232,163 – 232,163    

– 232,163 – 232,163    
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31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

As at 31 December 2021 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Financial assets at FVTPL

Investments in life insurance plans – 15,607 – 15,607

Unlisted convertible bond (note) – – 6,173 6,173    

– 15,607 6,173 21,780    

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing bank loans and other 

borrowings – 265,619 – 265,619    

– 265,619 – 265,619    

Note: Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on Level 3:

Unlisted 
convertible bond

HK$’000  

At 1 January 2021 6,021
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss 152 

At 31 December 2021 and January 2022 6,173
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss (509) 

At 31 December 2022 5,664 

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out 

of Level 3 (2021: HK$Nil).
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than financial assets at FVTPL comprise interest-bearing bank loans and 

other borrowings, restricted deposits, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial 

instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as 

trade receivables, other receivables, trade and bills payables, and other payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, interest risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The board of directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

32.1 Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. These exposures arise from sales by operating units in currencies 

other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 89.0% and 80.9% of the Group’s sales were denominated in 

currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating units making the sale for the years ended 31 December 

2022 and 2021 respectively, whilst all inventory costs were denominated in the units’ functional currencies. The Group 

also has bank balances and borrowings denominated in US$.

Since the HK$ is pegged to the US$, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of bank balances, 

borrowings and sales transaction denominated in US$ is considered as minimal.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the year to a reasonably possible change in the RMB 

exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s equity.

Increase/

(decrease) 

in exchange 

rate

Increase/

(decrease) 

in profit 

before tax

Increase/

(decrease) 

in equity*

% HK$’000 HK$’000    

As at 31 December 2022

If HK$ weakens against RMB 5 919 6,368

If HK$ strengthens against RMB (5) (919) (6,368)   

As at 31 December 2021

If HK$ weakens against RMB 5 1,271 5,962

If HK$ strengthens against RMB (5) (1,271) (5,962)   

* Excluding retained profits
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
32.2 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets except its bank deposits, the Group’s income and operating cash 

flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arose from interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, which were at variable rates and 

expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Fixed rate interest-bearing bank and other borrowings expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group regularly seeks out the most favourable interest rates available for its bank deposits and interest-bearing 

bank and other borrowings. Information relating to interest rates of the Group’s bank balances, deposits and interest-

bearing bank and other borrowings is disclosed in notes 22 and 25, respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, if interest rates on interest-bearing bank borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower 

with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been HK$1,554,000 lower/higher (2021: 

HK$1,706,000 lower/higher), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on interest-bearing bank borrowings.

32.3 Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers 

who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are 

monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, 

which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without undue cost or effort, and 

year-end staging classification as at 31 December.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
32.3 Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2022

12-month 

ECLs Lifetime ECLs  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Simplified 

approach Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Trade receivables*

– Individual assessed – – – 20,410 20,410

– Collective assessed – – – 224,105 224,105

Financial assets included in 

prepayments, other receivables  

and other assets

– Normal** 14,295 – – – 14,295

– Doubtful** – 7,926 373,538 – 381,464

Pledged deposits

– Not yet past due 3,772 – – – 3,772

Restricted deposit

– Not yet past due 12,275 – – – 12,275

Cash and cash equivalents

– Not yet past due 289,877 – – – 289,877     

320,219 7,926 373,538 244,515 946,198
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
32.3 Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

12-month 

ECLs Lifetime ECLs  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Simplified 

approach Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Trade receivables*

– Individual assessed – – – 14,426 14,426

– Collective assessed – – – 350,115 350,115

Financial assets included in 

prepayments, other receivables  

and other assets

– Normal** 34,677 – – – 34,677

– Doubtful** – – 394,071 – 394,071

Pledged deposits

– Not yet past due 3,759 – – – 3,759

Restricted deposit

– Not yet past due 13,246 – – – 13,246

Cash and cash equivalents

– Not yet past due 138,422 – – – 138,422     

190,104 – 394,071 364,541 948,716     

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is 
disclosed in notes 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when 
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. 

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by industry sector. 

The Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 31.6% (2021: 27.6%) and 71.9% (2021: 70.0%) of the Group’s 

trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer and five largest customers as at 31 December 2022, 

respectively. These customers have long term trading relationship with the Group with no defaults in the past and 

hence the Group does not consider there is any significant credit risk in this regard.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in 

note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
32.4 Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements, its compliance with lending covenants and its 
relationship with its bankers to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable 
securities and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements 
in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s bank 
borrowings and other financial liabilities, based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed 
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date 
the Group can be required to pay.

Specifically, for term loans which contain a repayment on demand clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole 
discretion, the maturity analysis shows the cash outflow based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan 
agreements. The amounts include interest payments computed using contractual rates. Taking into account the 
Group’s financial position, the directors do not consider that it is probable that the bank will exercise its discretion 
to demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that such term loans will be repaid in accordance with the 
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. If the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights to 
call the loans, the full amounts of the loans, together with interests, will be repayable immediately.

The maturity profile of financial liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, based on the contractual undiscounted 
payments, is as follows:

2022
Less than 1 year Over 1 year Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note) 232,163 – 232,163
Trade and bills payables 189,139 – 189,139
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 9,174 – 9,174
Lease liabilities 29,892 36,992 66,884   

460,368 36,992 497,360   

2021
Less than 1 year Over 1 year Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note) 265,619 – 265,619
Trade and bills payables 318,246 – 318,246
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 7,479 – 7,479
Lease liabilities 31,383 66,524 97,907   

622,727 66,524 689,251   
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
32.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notes:

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “Within 1 year or on demand” time band in 
the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these interest-bearing bank and other 
borrowings amounted to HK$235,942,000 (2021: HK$269,076,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors do not believe 
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that such interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings will be repaid 1 to 5 years after the end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment 
dates set out in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table below:

Maturity analysis – Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on 

scheduled repayments

Within 1 year

Over 1 year 

but within 

5 years Over 5 years

Total 

undiscounted 

amount

Carrying 

amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

31 December 2022 195,565 40,377 – 235,942 232,163     

31 December 2021 222,406 46,670 – 269,076 265,619     

32.5 Capital management
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net debts (being total bank, other borrowings and leases liabilities excluding 

trade debts and net of cash and cash equivalents) of approximately HK$4,603,000 (2021: HK$216,726,000). The total 

equity was approximately HK$609,031,000 (2021: HK$518,338,000). The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022 was 

approximately 0.74% (2021: 41.8%).

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 

maximising the return to shareholders through maintaining the appropriate debt and equity balance. The directors of 

the Company review the capital structure of the Group on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider 

the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the 

Group will balance its overall capital structure through various alternatives including the payment of dividends, new 

share issues and share buybacks as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Trust receipt 
loans

Bank and 
other loans Lease liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 January 2022 1,018 259,105 90,547
Cash flow

– Changes from financing cash flows (167) (23,862) (27,741)
– Interest paid – – (3,540)

Non-cash changes
– Interest expenses (Note 8) – – 3,540
– New lease – – 6,031
– Early terminate – – –
– Foreign exchange movement – (4,402) (5,669)   

At 31 December 2022 851 230,841 63,168   

Trust receipt 
loans

Bank and 
other loans Lease liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 January 2021 2,043 229,267 95,511
Cash flow

– Changes from financing cash flows (1,025) 27,932 (23,901)
– Interest paid – – (4,296)

Non-cash changes
– Interest expenses (Note 8) – – 4,296
– New lease – – 16,511
– Early terminate – – (192)
– Foreign exchange movement – 1,906 2,618   

At 31 December 2021 1,018 259,105 90,547   

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within operating activities 158 195
Within financing activities 31,281 28,197  

31,439 28,392  
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34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(a) Potential Litigation related to a fire incidence in United States

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group was informed by the customer of its electrostatic disinfectant 

sprayer products that a fire was occurred at a school in the United States involving an electrostatic disinfectant sprayer 

manufactured by the Group. Based on preliminary investigations subsequently conducted by the insurance company, 

the customer and some experts, and other information currently available, the Group believes that the root cause of 

the fire is most likely the defective design and manufacturing of the lithium-ion battery pack which powers the sprayer. 

The battery pack was designed and manufactured by a supplier designated by the customer. However, not all the 

electrostatic disinfectant sprayers sold by the customer were embedded with the subject lithium-ion battery pack. The 

customer also informed the Group that there were some other reports of property damage but no reports of injury 

involving the subject lithium-ion battery pack. In February 2022, in view of the potential risk that the battery pack can 

overheat and melt and potentially causing a fire or an explosion, the customer decided to recall voluntarily in the market 

four models of electrostatic sprayers embedded with the subject lithium-ion battery pack.

Management currently is of the view that the issue is the direct result of the defective design and manufacturing of 

the lithium-ion battery pack and the customer is well aware that the Group had no involvement with the design and 

manufacturing of the subject battery pack. The supplier of the subject battery pack was chosen and introduced to the 

Group by the customer and the Group cannot change the supplier of the subject battery pack unless written consent 

from the customer is obtained. Management believes that the Group does not have any responsibility or significant 

potential liability on this issue. The Group has engaged a law firm and a cause and origin expert in the United States to 

handle the issue.

(b) Litigation related to alleged non-payment of four purchase orders
During the year ended 31 December 2021, Shenzhen Allcomm, a subsidiary of the Group, received a Writ of Summons 

from a supplier of Shenzhen Allcomm in relation to alleged non-payment of four purchase orders amounting 

approximately RMB9,996,000 and penalty claim related to interest of non-payment, storage cost and profit margin 

amounting approximately RMB806,000 (the “Penalty Claim”), totalling approximately RMB10,802,000 (equivalent to 

HK$13,246,000). The supplier had also obtained a property preservation order from the Court to freeze deposit balances 

of Shenzhen Allcomm at a bank, amounting to approximately RMB10,802,000 (equivalent to HK$13,246,000), for a 

period of one year. Management currently is of the view that the supplier failed to deliver the ordered goods within 

the delivery date specific in the purchase order, Shenzhen Allcomm had instructed the supplier to cancel the purchase 

orders.

The Group’s legal counsel is of the opinion that the likelihood of outcome is uncertain and the amount of claim cannot 

reliably measured. As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not recognise any liability in relation to the claim. The 

Directors considered that the litigation would not have any material adverse effect on the Group.

Further details of the legal proceedings are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 20 March 2023.
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Non-current assets

Investment in an associate – 855

Amounts due from subsidiaries 398,254 398,111

Investments in subsidiaries 9,975 9,975

Financial assets at FVTPL 21,786 21,780  

Total non-current assets 430,015 430,721  

Current assets

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 1,731 1,346

Cash and cash equivalents 506 224

Tax recoverable 50 –  

Total current assets 2,287 1,570  

Current liabilities

Amount due to a subsidiary 104,724 105,364

Other payables 7,777 7,681  

Total current liabilities 112,501 113,045  

Net current liabilities (110,214) (111,475)  

Net assets 319,801 319,246  

Equity

Share capital 9,461 9,461

Reserves (note) 310,340 309,785  

Total equity 319,801 319,246  
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share 
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
Retained 

profits Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Balance at 1 January 2021 277,388 42 34,245 311,675
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 26,493 26,493
2020 final dividends paid (Note 12) – – (18,922) (18,922)
2021 interim dividends paid (Note 12) – – (9,461) (9,461)    

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 277,388 42 32,355 309,785
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 10,016 10,016
2022 interim dividends paid (Note 12) – – (9,461) (9,461)    

At 31 December 2022 277,388 42 32,910 310,340    
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following table summarises the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the five years ended 31 December 2022:

Year ended 31 December 

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Results HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Revenue 1,732,089 1,656,388 2,203,761 1,260,847 1,284,813     

Profit/(loss) before income tax 146,669 95,315 180,600 (320,030) 101,481

Income tax expense (25,186) (28,173) (52,099) (13,422) (22,561)     

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 121,483 67,142 128,501 (333,452) 78,920

Profit for the year from a discontinued operation – – – 73,435 28,813     

Profit/(loss) for the year 121,483 67,142 128,501 (260,017) 107,733

Non-controlling interest (9,430) 2,205 (6,057) (2,023) (3,492)     

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company 112,053 69,347 122,444 (262,040) 104,241     

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 1,228,116 1,358,519 1,357,023 936,117 3,922,842

Total liabilities (619,085) (840,181) (891,378) (606,972) (3,343,062)     

Total equity 609,031 518,388 465,645 329,145 579,780     

Note:

(1) The results of the Group for each of the two years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 and its assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are 
those set out on pages 74 to 77 of this report and are presented on the basis as set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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